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Terminology and references

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “Canp”, “IntelGenx”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer collectively to IntelGenx Technolog
Corp. and IntelGenx Corp., our wholly-owned Canadiabsidiary.

In this Form 10-K, unless otherwise specified,ratinetary amounts are in United States dollarseédirences to “$”, “U.S.$", “U.S. dollars”
and “dollars” mean U.S. dollars and all referenme®C$”, “Canadian dollars”, “CDN$” and “CAD$fmean Canadian dollars. To the extent
such monetary amounts are derived from our coret@@tifinancial statements included elsewhere gmRorm 10K, they have been transla
into U.S. dollars in accordance with our accountiadjcies as described therein. Unless otherwidicéted, other Canadian dollar mone
amounts have been translated into United Statdardalt the December 31, 2009 closing rate repdnyettie Bank of Canada, being U.S. $.
= C$1.05009.




PART |
Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Staements

Certain statements included or incorporated byreefee in this prospectus constitute forwhlrdking statements within the meaning
applicable securities laws. All statements contiimethis prospectus that are not clearly histdricanature are forwartéboking, and the wort
“anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “expect”, “eBhate”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “will", “shall” and other similar expressions are gene
intended to identify forwardboking statements within the meaning of Sectiol 2f the Securities Act and Section 21E of the 3itieg
Exchange Act of 1934. All forwartboking statements are based on our beliefs andrgstons based on information available at the tihe
assumption was made. These forward-looking statesrame not based on historical facts but on managésexpectations regarding fut
growth, results of operations, performance, futapital and other expenditures (including the amonature and sources of funding there
competitive advantages, business prospects andrtapfi@s. Forwardeoking statements involve significant known andkmmwn risks
uncertainties, assumptions and other factors tlagteause our actual results, levels of activityfggenance or achievements to differ materi
from those implied by forwartboking statements. These factors should be coreidearefully and prospective investors should plate
undue reliance on the forward-looking statementshodigh the forwardeoking statements contained in this prospectughocorporated b
reference herein are based upon what managemeavéselto be reasonable assumptions, there is noaas® that actual results will
consistent with these forward-looking statementesEe forwardeoking statements are made as of the date oftioispectus or as of the d
specified in the documents incorporated by refexelmerein, as the case may Bde Company undertakes no obligation to update ar
forward- looking statements to reflect events or circumstames after the date on which such statements were maar to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events, except as mayelrequired by applicable securities lawsThe factors listed above in the sec
captioned "Risk Factors", as well as any cautiodanguage in this prospectus, provide exampless&gr uncertainties and events that
cause IntelGenx's actual results to differ matlgrittbm the expectations IntelGenx describes in fauward{ooking statements. Before y
invest in the common stock, you should be aware ttie occurrence of the events described as ristorfsand elsewhere in this prospe
could have a material adverse effect on our busjragserating results and financial condition.

Item 1. Business.
Corporate History

Our predecessor company, Big Flash Corp., was fiecated in Delaware on July 27, 1999. On April 2806, Big Flash, through its Canac
holding corporation, completed the acquisition mtelGenx Corp., a Canadian company incorporatedunme 15, 2003. The Company did
have any operations prior to the acquisition oél@denx Corp. In connection with the acquisition, eh@nged our name from Big Flash Corj
IntelGenx Technologies Corp. IntelGenx Corp. hagtiooed operations as our operating subsidiary.

Overview

We are a drug delivery company focusing on the idgveent of novel, orally administered drug delivergducts based on our proprietary
drug delivery technologies. We have positioned elwes as a provider of product development servioeghe pharmaceutical indust
including the branded and generic pharmaceuticakets.

Drug delivery systems are an important tool inthads of physicians for purposes of optimizing dharapy. For the pharmaceutical indu
drug delivery systems represent an opportunityterel the market exclusivity and product lifecyefedrugs whose patent protection is nee
expiration.

Controlled release (CR) dosage technologies playngortant role in the development of orally admiared drug delivery systems. Contro
release technology provides patients with the reguamount of medication over a gietermined, prolonged period of time. Because €
reduced fluctuation of the active drug in the bl@odl the avoidance of plasma spikes, controlleshssl products are deemed safer and
tolerable than conventional dosage forms, and Bhee/n better patient compliance.

Our primary business strategy is to develop phaemtézal products based upon our proprietary druiyely technologies and license
commercial rights to companies in the pharmacelitichstry once the viability of a product has beemonstrated. In exchange for licen:
rights to our products, we seek funding consistihg combination of one or more of the followingtvance down payments, milestone f
reimbursement for development costs, and royaltiessales. In addition, we may receive a manufargurioyalty from our contra
manufacturers for the exclusive right to manufeetour products. The companies we partner with ypieally responsible for managing
regulatory approval process of the product withWimited States Food and Drug Administration (FDAJlr other regulatory bodies, as v
as for the marketing and distribution of the pradu©n a case-bgase basis, IntelGenx may be responsible for pioyidll or part of th
documentation required for the regulatory submissiio addition to pursuing partnering arrangemeémas provide for the full funding of a dr
development project, we may undertake developmieselected product opportunities until the markgtmd distribution stage. We would f
assess the potential and associated costs forssfctdevelopment of a product, and then deterratnghich stage it would be most pruder
seek a partner, balancing costs against the patdotihigher returns later in the development pssc
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Technology Platforms

Our product development efforts are based uporetdedivery platform technologies: (1) a Multilay€ablet technology (2) an Oral Fi
technology, and (3) a Mucoadhesive Tablet technoldgur Multilayer Tablet platform technology allowsr the development of o
controlled-release products. It is designed to &esatile and to reduce manufacturing costs as cadpa competing oral extendeeleas
delivery technologies. The Oral Film technologyoal$ for the instant delivery of pharmaceuticalshe oral cavity, while the Mucoadhes
Tablet allows for the controlled release of acBubstances to the oral mucosa.

The Multilayer Tablet (“VersaTab'platform technology represents a new generatiatoafrolled release layered tablets designed to hate
the release of active compounds. The technolotpaged on a multilayer tablet with an active coyefeand erodible cover layers. The rele
of the active drug from the core matrix initiallgaurs in a firstsrder fashion. As the cover layers start to ertitksiy permeability for the acti
ingredient through the cover layers increases. TtmesMultilayer Tablet can produce quasi-linear@order) kinetics for releasing a chem
compound over a desired period of time. The erosidm of the cover layers can be customized acegrii the physicahemical properties
the active drug. In addition, our multilayer tectogy offers the opportunity to develop combinatfmoeducts in a regulatorgempliant forma
Combination products are made up of two or mor@adbgredients that are combined into a singleadesorm.

The Oral Film technology (“VersaFilm”) is made upaothin (2535 micron) polymeric film comprised of USP compotsetihat are approv
by the FDA for use in food, pharmaceutical, andwetic products. Derived from the edible film tecloyy used for breath strips and initie
developed for the instant delivery of savory fla/tw food substrates, the VersaFilm technologye&ghed to provide a rapid response rel;
to existing fast dissolving oral tablets. The Vé&ifia technology is intended for indications requdrirapid onset of action, such as migre
motion sickness, erectile dysfunction, and nausea.

The Mucoadhesive Tablet (“AdVersa$ a drug delivery system capable of adhering ¢éodtal mucosa and releasing the drug onto theof
application at a controlled rate. The MucoadheSiablet is designed to provide the following advaetarelative to competing technologies
it avoids the first pass effect, whereby the lisetabolizes the active ingredient and greatly redube level of drug in the systemic circulat
(i) it leads to a higher absorption rate as coragdo the conventional oral route, and (iii) it Estes a rapid onset of action for the drug.
Mucoadhesive Tablet technology is designed to bsatée in order to permit the site of applicatioesidence time, and rate of release o
drug to be modulated to achieve the desired results

Product Portfolio

Our product portfolio includes a blend of genen aranded products based on our proprietary dglitechnology (“generic’drugs ar
essentially copies of drugs that have already vedeFDA approval).

INT0001/2004. This is the most advanced generidgebinvolving our trilayer technology. Equivalenajth the reference product Toprol .
and its European equivalent Beloc-ZOK has been dstratedn-vitro . The product has been tested in phase | studies.

INTO003/2005. We have entered into a partnershiph ®ary Pharmaceuticals for the development of @edily tablet product containing
antidepressant and a nicotine antagonist. The ptaslintended for smoking cessation.

INTO004/2006. The development of a new strengtidaptessant Bupropion HCI, the active ingredientellbutrin XL® has been complete
A regulatory file for a 505(b)(2) NDA submission sveiled in April, 2009. In a complete responsedetieceived on February 4, 2010, the F
commented on the food effect which was observaterfood effect study included in the NDA and oae tack of a commercial manufactu
Both issues will be addressed in an amendmenetdlbA which the Company intends to file in the setdalf of 2010.
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INTO005/2005. We are developing a bilayer tablentaming a fixed-dose combination of a non-sterbiditi-inflammatory drug and
synthetic prostaglandin. Formulation developmerbisipleted and a pilot bio batch has been manufeattu

INTO006/2005. We have entered into a developmergeagent with Azur Pharma for the development andufeture of a prenatal vitan
supplement. The product was developed using ourigtary technology. The product was launched & thited States during the fou
guarter of 2008 under the brand name Gesticare®.

INT0010/2006. We have entered into an agreemerit ®&nnasat Therapeutics Inc. for the developmerd bficcal mucoadhesive tal
product containing a cannabinoid-based drug fotrregment of neuropathic pain and nausea in cgraténts undergoing chemotherapy.

INT0014/2008. Under a development agreement withn@sat Therapeutics Inc., we are developing a cledrrelease tablet containi
Cannabidiol for the treatment of schizophrenia. Tiiméed financial resources of our partner in thisject have resulted in the project being
on hold.

INTO007/2006. An oral film product based on ourgietary edible film technology is currently in tearly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of erectile dysfunc{ieb). A phase | pilot biostudy was completed.

INT0008/2007. An oral film product based on ourgietary edible film technology is currently in ddepment. The product is intended for
treatment of migraine. The results of a phasedtgiludy that was conducted in 2009 indicate thaftrroduct is bioequivalent with the refere
listed drug.

INT0015/2008. An oral film product based on ourgietary edible film technology is currently in tearly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of panic attacks.

INT0018/2008. We have entered into a developmedtl@mensing agreement with Circ Pharma Ltd. to folate, manufacture and suppl
novel drug product, based upon our proprietary &Eab technology, for the treatment of hyperlipideniihe product is currently in the et
development stage but has temporarily been pub@thldy our development partner.

INT0019/2009. An oral film product based on ourgietary edible film technology is currently in tearly development stage. The produ
intended for the treatment of diarrhea.

The current development status of each of our prsdas of the date of this filing is summarizedhia following table:

Product Application Status of Development

INTO001/2004 CHF [Coronary Heart Failure], Pivotal batches in preparation
Hypertension

INT0003/2005 Smoking cessation Pilot biostudy ccatgad
INT0004/2006 Antidepressant NDA filed April, 2009; complete response
letter received Q1/2010
INT0010/2006 Neuropathic pain Pilot biostudy contede
INTO006/2005 Prenatal vitamin supplement Product launched in USA Q4, 2008
INT0005/2005 Osteoarthritis Pilot batch completed
6



INTO007/2006 ED Formulation development ongoing
INTO008/2007 Migraine Pilot biostudy completed
INT0014/2008 Schizophrenia Project currently ordhol
INT0015/2008 Panic Attack Formulation developmemgaing
INT0018/2008 Hyperlipidemia Project on hold.

INT0019/2009 Diarrhea Formulation development ongoing

Growth Strategy

Our primary growth strategies include: (1) ideritify lifecycle management opportunities for existitsdpckbuster”products, (2) developit
generic drugs with high barriers to entry, (3) dep#ng products for the (nopharmaceutical) nutritional supplement market, #4)
developing new drug delivery technologies.

Lifecycle Management Opportunities

We are seeking to position our delivery technolsgie an opportunity for lifecycle management ofdpads for which the patent protectior
the active ingredient is nearing expiration. Whiie patent for the underlying substance cannotxtended, patent protection can be obta
for a new and improved formulation by filing an &pation with the FDA under Section 505(b)(2) oétb.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosir
Act. Such applications, known as a “505(b)(2) NDAShe permitted for new drug products that incorporateviously approved acti
ingredients, even if the proposed new drug incafes an approved active ingredient in a novel féatran or for a new indication. A 505(b)
(2) NDA may include information regarding safetydaefficacy of a proposed drug that comes from sidiot conducted by or for 1
applicant. The first formulation for a respectiwiee ingredient filed with the FDA under a 505@))@pplication may qualify for up to thi
years of market exclusivity upon approval. Basedrup review of past partnerships between thirdypdrtig delivery companies a
pharmaceutical companies, management believesithgtdelivery companies which possess innovatigarelogies to develop these spe
dosage formulations present an attractive oppdstutd pharmaceutical companies. Accordingly, weidwe these so-called505(b)(2
products” represent a viable business opportunitys$.

Generic Drugs with High Barriers to Entry

We will also plan to pursue the development of gendrugs that have certain barriers to entry,,ewghere product development
manufacturing are complex and can limit the nundfguotential entrants into the generic market. Mo pursue such projects only if
number of potential competitors is deemed relagivesignificant. An example of such a product ig puoject INT0O005/2005, a fixedest
combination medication requiring complex formulateand manufacturing technology.

Nutritional Supplement Products

We plan to develop additional products for the itiotral supplement market based upon our propsiedang delivery technologies. The mau
for these supplements is large, with little diffetiation between products. Our proprietary techggls aimed at increasing the absorption
of active ingredients. We believe that supplemeetsresent attractive short term revenue opporesitiince they are not regulatec
pharmaceutical products and do not require FDA @gdr




Development of New Drug Delivery Technologie

The rapidly disintegrating film technology contaihia our VersaFilm and our AdVersa mucosal adhetibéet are examples of our effort:
develop alternate technology platforms. As we wuiikh various partners on different products, weksepportunities to develop ni
proprietary technologies.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedas subject to the rapid emergence of new tedgies, governmental regulatio
healthcare legislation, availability of financingatent litigation and other factors. Many of oumgpetitors, including Biovail Corporatic
Labopharm Inc., and Flamel Technologies S.A., hlanger operating histories and greater financiathhical, marketing, legal and ot
resources than we have. In addition, many of oanpetitors have significantly greater experiencenth@ have in conducting clinical trials
pharmaceutical products, obtaining FDA and otheulaory approvals of products, and marketing aefling products that have be
approved. We expect that we will be subject to cetitipn from numerous other companies that curyeoplerate or are planning to enter
markets in which we compete.

The key factors affecting the development and coroiakzation of our drug delivery products are likéo include, among other factors:
e The safety and efficacy of our products;
e The relative speed with which we can develop prtgjuc
e Generic competition for any product that we devglop
e Our ability to defend our existing intellectual pesty and to broaden our intellectual property ssuthnology base;
e Our ability to differentiate our products;

e Our ability to manufacture our products in comptiarwith current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGIMBnd any other regulatc
requirements; and

e Our ability to obtain financing.

In order to establish ourselves as a viable inglysairtner, we plan to continue to invest in oureegsh and development activities in orde
strengthen further our technology base and to devible ability to manufacture our products throegh manufacturing partner at competi
costs.

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that our key competitive strengths idetu

e Our intellectual property;

e The versatility of our drug delivery technologydan

e The potential manufacturing cost savings associatddour technology.
Manufacturing Partnership / Strategy

We manufacture products only for testing purposesur own laboratories, and we do not manufactucelycts for clinical trials or fi
commercial use. We do not own manufacturing faeslifor commercial production and we have no ptanacquire such facilities in the n
future. Our strategy is to secure partnerships gfitbcialist manufacturing companies that are abtefer reliable, high quality manufacturi
services at cost effective pricing.

We formed a strategic alliance with LTS Lohmann reipgeSysteme AG ("LTS") for the exclusive manufacturofgoroducts developed by
using our VersaFilm drug delivery technology. LTSregarded as a pioneer in the development andugtiod of transdermal and fil
form/wafer oral systems and has become one of tbedis leading suppliers for the international phaceutical industry. VersaFilm
IntelGenx's immediate release wafer technologis omprised of a thin polymeric film using Unit&tates Pharmacopeia (USP) compor
that are safe and approved by the FDA for use adl fpharmaceutical and cosmetic products. Versapitmides a patergrotected method
re-formulating approved pharmaceuticals in a morevenient and discrete oral dosage form.
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We are currently in negotiations to secure a martufang partnership for the productions of clinitast batches and commercial produc
our VersaTab and AdVersa tablet products.

We are not a manufacturer and we do not usuallgh@ase large quantities of raw materials. Our martufang partners, however, purch
significant quantities of raw materials, some ofiecllhmay have long lead times. If raw materials carive supplied to our manufactur
partners in a timely and cost effective manner, manufacturing partners may experience delays auymtion that may lead to redu
supplies of commercial product being availabledale or distribution. Such shortages could haveterndental effect on sales of the proc
and a corresponding reduction on royalty revenaesesl.

Dependence on Major Customers

We do not rely on any one or a few major custonfi@r®ur end products. However, we depend upon @ddmumber of partners to deve
our products, to provide funding for the developta&iour products, and to assist in obtaining ratprly approvals that are required in orde
commercialize these products.

Intellectual Property and Patent Protection

We protect our intellectual property and technolbgyusing the following methods: (i) applying faatpnt protection in the United States ar
the appropriate foreign markets, (ii) ndisclosure agreements, license agreements andpgteocontractual restrictions and controls or
distribution of information, and (iii) trade sesetommon law trademark rights and trademark negishs. We plan to file core technolc
patents covering the use of our platform techn@®d@i any pharmaceutical products.

We have obtained four (4) patents and have aniadditseven (7) pending patent applications, asridesd below. The patents expire 20 y:
after submission of the initial application.

Patent No. Title Subject Date submitted / issued
US 6,231,957 Rapidly disintegrating flavor ~ The composition,
wafer for flavor enrichment manufacturing, and use of

rapidly disintegrating flavored  Issued May 15, 2001
films for releasing flavors to
certain substrates

US 6,660,292 Rapidly disintegrating film for Composition and manufacturing
precooked foods of flavored films for releasing
flavors to precooked food Issued December 9, 2003
substrates
uUSs 7,132,113 Flavored film Composition and manuféacy

method of multi-layered films Issued April 16, 2002

UsS Appl. Multilayer Tablet Formulation and Method of
2007/0190144 Preparation of Multilayered Published August 16, 2007
Tablets




Formulation and Method of

US Appl. Multi-Vitamin And Mineral . .

Preparation of Prenatal Published June 7, 2007
2007/0128272 Supplement Mulgvitamin Supploment

Formulation and Method Of
PCT/CA2006/000336 Delayed Release Oral Dosage \\ing Bilayer Tablets

Form And Method Of Making February 13, 2006

US Appl. 11/403,262 Containing Delayed-Release

Same Diclofenac And Misoprostol
Formulation and Method Of
US Appl. 11/782,838 Controlled Release . g,
PCT/IB2007/03950 Pharmaceutical Tablets Making Tablets Containing July 2006

Bupropion And Mecamylamine

Sustained-release Bupropion  Formulation and Method Of
US Patent 7674479 and Bupropion / Mecamylamine Making Tablets Containing Issued March 9, 2010
tablets Bupropion And Mecamylamine

Formulation and Method of
US Provisional Appl. Dosage forms of complexed Preparation of gamma- August 2009
US 61/230504 cannabinoids cyclodextrin complexes 9
containing cannabinoids

US Provisional Appl. Oral film dosage forms and Optimization of Film strip

US 61/267626 methods for making same technology December 2009

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatede finoducts we participate in developing requirdaderregulatory approvals. In the Uni
States, drugs are subject to rigorous regulatiothbyrDA. The U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmigtic and other federal and state stal
and regulations, govern, among other things, tisearh, development, testing, manufacture, stonagerd keeping, packaging, labeli
adverse event reporting, advertising, promotiontketéng, distribution, and import and export of phaceutical products. Failure to com
with applicable regulatory requirements may subfecbmpany to a variety of administrative or judigi-imposed sanctions and/or the inab
to obtain or maintain required approvals or to readkeugs. The steps ordinarily required beforeva plarmaceutical product may be mark:
in the United States include:

e preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies amrdhidation studies under FDA'’s good laboratory pics regulations, or GLPs;

e the submission to the FDA of an investigational rrwg application, or IND, which must become effieztefore human clinical trie
may begin;

e the completion of adequate and wedlntrolled clinical trials according to good clialcpractice regulations, or GCPs, to establisl
safety and efficacy of the product for each indarafor which approval is sought;

e After successful completion of the required clihi¢asting, submission to the FDA of a New Drug Apaltion, or NDA, or a
Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, for gemedrugs. In certain cases, an application forkating approval may inclu
information regarding safety and efficacy of a meed drug that comes from studies not conductedrbfpr the applicant. Su
applications, known as a 505(b)(2) NDA, are pemditfor new drug products that incorporate previpagiproved active ingredier
even if the proposed new drug incorporates an aggractive ingredient in a novel formulation or éonew indication.
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e satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of tmanufacturing facility or facilities at which thgroduct is produced to ass
compliance with cGMPs to assure that the facilittesthods and controls are adequate to preservertiges identity, strength, quali
and purity; and

e FDA review and approval of the NDA or ANDA.

The cost of complying with the foregoing requirertseimcluding preparing and submitting an NDA or BA, may be substantial.

Accordingly, we typically rely upon our partnerstime pharmaceutical industry to spearhead and theacosts of the FDA approval proct
We also seek to mitigate regulatory costs by fousin 505(b)(2) NDA opportunities. By applying alnug delivery technology to existi
drugs, we seek to develop products with lower Rebe& Development (“R&D”) expenses and shorter titnanarket timelines as compal
to regular NDA products.

Research and Development Expense

Our R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, for tleayended December 31, 2009 decreased significan#l§,237.1 thousand as compare
$1,779.7 thousand for the year ended December(®B. 2

Environmental Regulatory Compliance

We believe that we are in compliance with environtakregulations applicable to our research anctldgwment facility located in Ville Saint-
Laurent, Quebec.

Employees
As of the date of this filing, we have 9 full tireenployees.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our common stock involves significisks. You should carefully consider the follugvrisks and all other information ¢
forth in this prospectus before deciding to inviesshares of our common stock. If any of the eventievelopments described below occ
our business, financial condition and results oéigtions may suffer. In that case, the value of @mmon stock may decline and you ¢
lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
We continue to sustain losses and our revenues aret sufficient to sustain our operations.

Even though we ceased being a “development stageipany in April 2006, we are still subject to aflthe risks associated with havin
limited operating history and pursuing the develepimof new products. Our cash flows may be insigffitto meet expenses relating to
operations and the development of our businessiraydbe insufficient to allow us to develop newdurcts. We currently conduct research
development using our proprietary platform techg@e to develop oral controlled release and otladivery products. We do not kni
whether we will be successful in the developmengwath products. We have an accumulated deficippfaimately $6,665.4 thousand si
our inception in 2003 through December 31, 2009date, these losses have been financed princithatiyigh sales of equity securities, long-
term debt and debt from related parties. Our regerfor the years ended December 31, 2009, DeceB8ihe2008, December 31, 20
December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005 and Decembe@084 were $1,278.7 thousand, $976.6 thousar&®.$&8housand, $265.9 thouse
$20.0 thousand and $257.4 thousand respectivelyré&¥enues in 2009 consisted primarily of developiriee revenues from four clients, i
royalty income earned from commercialization of fivst product fullydeveloped by the Company, a prenatal multivitamipptemer
marketed as Gesticareé®the USA, which was commercialized in Novembe®@0Revenue generated to date has not been sofftoisustai
our operations. In order to achieve profitabiliyr revenue streams will have to increase and tkare assurance that revenues will increa
such a level.

We may incur losses associated with foreign curregdluctuations.

The majority of our expenses are paid in Canad@laid, while a significant portion of our revenus® in U.S. dollars. Our financial resi
are subject to the impact of currency exchangeftat¢uations. Adverse movements in exchange redetd have a material adverse effec
our financial condition and results of operations.
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We may need additional capital to fulfill our business strategies. We may also incur unforeseen codtailure to obtain such capita
would adversely affect our business.

We will need to expend significant capital in ordercontinue with our research and development ibyndh additional research staff ¢
acquiring additional equipment. If our cash flowsnfi operations are insufficient to fund our expdatapital needs, or our needs are gr:
than anticipated, we will be required to raise ddal funds in the future through private or paldales of equity securities or the incurrenc
additional indebtedness. Additional funding may betavailable on favorable terms, or at all. If begrow additional funds, we likely will |
obligated to make periodic interest or other delsvise payments and may be subject to additiorsttictive covenants. If we fail to obt:
sufficient additional capital in the future, we tibe forced to curtail our growth strategy by reidg or delaying capital expenditures, sel
assets or downsizing or restructuring our operatidihnwe raise additional funds through public oivate sales of equity securities, the s
may be at prices below the market price of ourksto our shareholders may suffer significant dhlut

The loss of the services of key personnel would aghgely affect our business.

Our future success depends to a significant degmete skills, experience and efforts of our exieeudfficers and senior management s
The loss of the services of existing personnelti@darly Horst Zerbe, our Chairman of the Boardl @hief Executive Officer, would |
detrimental to our research and development progjieam to our overall business.

We are dependent on business partners to conductrilkal trials of, obtain regulatory approvals for, and manufacture, market, and se
our controlled release products.

We depend heavily on our pharmaceutical partnepayofor part or all of the research and develogne@penses associated with developi
new product and to obtain approval from regulatmogies such as the U.S. Food and Drug Administidtioe “FDA”) to commercialize the
products. We also depend on our partners to did&ilbhese products after receiving regulatory apgdrdOur revenues from research
development fees, milestone payments and royaltg e provided by our partners. Our inability itad fpharmaceutical partners who
willing to pay us these fees in order to develow peoducts would negatively impact our business @ndcash flows.

We have limited experience in manufacturing, manketind selling pharmaceutical products. Accordinglwe cannot maintain our existi
partnerships or establish new partnerships withaetsto our other products in development, we hédlve to establish our own capabilitie:
discontinue the commercialization of the affecteddpict. Developing our own capabilities would b@exsive and time consuming and c«
delay the commercialization of the affected produibiere can be no assurance that we would be @blevielop these capabilities.

Our existing agreements with pharmaceutical ingusairtners are generally subject to terminatiorihgycounterparty on short notice upon
occurrence of certain circumstances, includingrinitlimited to the following: a determination ththe product in development is not likely
be successfully developed or not likely to receiegulatory approval; our failure to satisfy our ightions under the agreement, or
occurrence of a bankruptcy event. If any of outtrpanships are terminated, we may be required totéeadditional resources to the prod
seek a new partner on short notice, or abandoprttgiuct development efforts. The terms of any &aldlitt partnerships or other arrangem
that we establish may not be favorable to us.

We are also at risk that these partnerships or airangements may not be successful. Factorsrthgtaffect the success of our partners
include the following: Our partners may incur ficgal and caslitow difficulties that force them to limit or redadheir participation in our joi
projects.

e Our partners may be pursuing alternative technekor developing alternative products that are @ditiye to our product, either
their own or in partnership with others;

e Our partners may reduce marketing or sales effortgliscontinue marketing or sales of our produttss would reduce our reveni
received on the products;

e Our partners may terminate their partnerships wih This could make it difficult for us to attrastw partners or adversely aff
perception of us in the business and financial camities; and

e Our partners may pursue higher priority programstange the focus of their development programsctwbould affect the partner’
commitment to us. Pharmaceutical and biotechnologmpanies historically have esxaluated their priorities from time to tir
including following mergers and consolidationsganenon occurrence in recent years.
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e Our partners may incur financial and cdkw difficulties that force them to limit or redactheir participation in our developm
projects

e Our partners may become the target of litigatianpfarported patent or intellectual property infémgent, which could delay or prohi
commercialization of our products and which wowdduce our revenue from such products.

We face competition in our industry, and many of oucompetitors have substantially greater experiencand resources than we do.

We compete with other companies within the drugiveey industry, many of which have more capital, ren@xtensive research ¢
development capabilities and greater human ressuittan we do. Some of these drug delivery compstitaclude Biovail Corporatio
Labopharm Inc., and Flamel Technologies S.A. Ounpetitors may develop new or enhanced productsrocesses that may be m
effective, less expensive, safer or more readilgilaile than any products or processes that welalgver they may develop propriet
positions that prevent us from being able to swsfodlg commercialize new products or processeswetlevelop. As a result, our product
processes may not compete successfully, and réseard development by others may render our prodoctprocesses obsolete
uneconomical. Competition may increase as techimdbgdvances are made and commercial applicaticvexden.

We are dependent upon sales outside the United Sg¢at which are subject to a number of risks.
Our future results of operation could be harmediglys inherent in doing business in internationatkets, including:
e Unforeseen changes in regulatory requirements;
e Weaker intellectual property rights protection amee countries;
e New export license requirements, changes in tasiftsade restrictions; and
e Political and economic instability in our target nkets.
We rely upon third-party manufacturers, which puts us at risk for supplier business interruptions.

We have entered into agreements with third partgufecturers to manufacture certain of our prodoatse we complete development and i
we receive regulatory approval. If our thipdsty manufacturers fail to perform, our abilityrt@rket products and to generate revenue wot
adversely affected. Our failure to deliver produat® timely manner could lead to the dissatistactf our distribution partners and dam
our reputation, causing our distribution partnersancel existing agreements with us and to stapgdousiness with us.

The thirdparty manufacturers that we depend on to manufacur products are required to adhere to FDA reigus.regarding cGMP, whi
include testing, control and documentation requéeets. Ongoing compliance with cGMP and other regwarequirements is monitored
periodic inspection by the FDA and comparable aganio other countries. Failure by our thperty manufacturers to comply with cGMP
other regulatory requirements could result in adi@gainst them by regulatory agencies and jeagamiir ability to obtain products ol
timely basis.

We are subject to extensive government regulatiom¢luding the requirement of approval before our pralucts may be marketed. Even
we obtain marketing approval, our products will besubject to ongoing regulatory review.

We, our partners, our products, and our productlicates are subject to extensive regulation by gowental authorities in the United Stz
and other countries. Failure to comply with apdllearequirements could result in warning lettense$ and other civil penalties, delay:
approving or refusal to approve a product candjdaeduct recall or seizure, withdrawal of prodapprovals, interruption of manufacturing
clinical trials, operating restrictions, injunct®rand criminal prosecution.

Our products cannot be marketed in the United Staféhout FDA approval. Obtaining FDA approval rées substantial time, effort, a
financial resources, and there can be no assuthateny approval will be granted on a timely basiat all. We rely on our partners for -
preparation of applications and for obtaining regody approvals. If the FDA does not approve owrdprct candidates in a timely fashion
does not approve them at all, our business anddiabhcondition may be adversely affected.
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Further, the terms of approval of any marketingliappion, including the labeling content, may bermoestrictive than we desire and cc
affect the marketability of our or our collaborasoproducts. Subsequent discovery of problems waithapproved product may resul!
restrictions on the product or its withdrawal fréihe market. In addition, both before and after taguy approval, we, our collaborators,
products, and our product candidates are subjectutoerous FDA requirements covering testing, mastufang, quality control, cGMI
adverse event reporting, labeling, advertisingymartion, distribution, and export. Our partners avelare subject to surveillance and peri
inspections to ascertain compliance with theselagigns. Further, the relevant law and regulatioras/ change in ways that could affect us,
partners, our products, and our product candid&iture to comply with regulatory requirements Idonave a material adverse impact on
business.

Regulations regarding the manufacture and saleuoffidure products are subject to change. We capredict what impact, if any, su
changes may have on our business, financial conditi results of operations. Failure to comply vépiplicable regulatory requirements cc
have a material adverse effect on our businesandial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the time required for obtaining regtdry approval is uncertain. We may encounter delary product rejections based u
changes in FDA policies, including cGMP, duringipds of product development. We may encounter aingelays in countries outside of
United States. We may not be able to obtain thegelatory acceptances on a timely basis, or at all.

The failure to obtain timely regulatory acceptané®ur products, any product marketing limitations,any product withdrawal would hav
material adverse effect on our business, finarmaldition and results of operations. In additioefdoe it grants approvals, the FDA or
foreign regulatory authority may impose numerouseotrequirements with which we must comply. Regudatacceptance, if granted, n
include significant limitations on the indicatedessfor which the product may be marketed. FDA adorent policy strictly prohibits tl
marketing of accepted products for unapproved WBesluct acceptance could be withdrawn or civitiminal sanctions could be imposed
our failure to comply with regulatory standardstue occurrence of unforeseen problems followingiahinarketing.

The third party manufacturers that we depend omanufacture our products are required to adhefDa regulations regarding cGMP &
similar regulations in other countries, which ird#utesting, control and documentation requiremetgyoing compliance with cGMP &
other regulatory requirements is monitored by phddnspection by the FDA and comparable agenciegher countries.

We may not be able to expand or enhance our existirproduct lines with new products limiting our ability to grow.

If we are not successful in the development andhiction of new products, our ability to grow wile impeded. We may not be abl
identify products to enhance or expand our protines. Even if we can identify potential produasy investment in research and developi
might be significant before we could bring the prod to market. Moreover, even if we identify agudial product and expend signific
dollars on development, we may never be able toghihie product to market or achieve market acceptéor such product. As a result, we t
never recover our expenses.

The market may not be receptive to products incorpmting our drug delivery technologies.

The commercial success of any of our productsdhatapproved for marketing by the FDA and otheulagry authorities will depend up
their acceptance by the medical community and tpady payers as clinically useful, cadfective and safe. To date, only one product t
upon our technologies has been marketed in theetd§tates, which limits our ability to provide gaite or assurance as to market accept

Factors that we believe could materially affect ketacceptance of these products include:

¢ the timing of the receipt of marketing approvals &me countries in which such approvals are obthine

the safety and efficacy of the product as comptrempetitive products;

the relative convenience and ease of administrasocompared to competitive products;

the strength of marketing distribution support; and

the cost-effectiveness of the product and thetghii receive third party reimbursement.
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We are subject to environmental regulations and anyailure to comply may result in substantial finesand sanctions.

Our operations are subject to Canadian and interretenvironmental laws and regulations governargong other things, emissions to
discharges to waters and the generation, handitogage, transportation, treatment and disposahwfmaterials, waste and other mater
Many of these laws and regulations provide for tarigal fines and criminal sanctions for violatioMge believe that we are and have t
operating our business and facility in a mannet ¢oanplies in all material respects with environtaérhealth and safety laws and regulati
however, we may incur material costs or liabilittewe fail to operate in full compliance. We dotmpaintain environmental damage insur¢
coverage with respect to the products which we rfzature.

We may have to make significant expenditures inftitere to comply with evolving environmental, hbadnd safety requirements, includ
new requirements that may be adopted or imposéheirfuture. To meet changing licensing and regwastandards, we may have to m
significant additional site or operational moditicas that could involve substantial expendituresemuction or suspension of some of
operations. We cannot be certain that we haveiftEhtll environmental and health and safety mattdfecting our activities and in the fut
our environmental, health and safety problems,thadtosts to remediate them, may be materiallytgréhan we expect.

Our limited cash resources restrict our ability topay cash dividends.

Since our inception, we have not paid any cashddivils on our common stock. We currently intencetain future earnings, if any, to supj
operations and to finance the growth and developrokour business. Therefore, we do not expectay gash dividends in the foresee:
future. Any future determination relating to ouwidend policy will be made at the discretion of ®@wmard of Directors and will depend o
number of factors, including future earnings, capiequirements, financial conditions and futurespect and other factors that the boai
directors may deem relevant. If we do not pay amjddnds on our common stock, our stockholders léllable to profit from an investm
only if the price of the stock appreciates beftwe $tockholder sells it. Investors seeking cashldids should not purchase our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are not able to adequately protect our intekctual property, we may not be able to compete effavely.

Our success depends, to a significant degree, thgoprotection of our proprietary technologies. Whve currently own four U.S. patents .
have applied for seven U.S. patents, we will n@epgursue additional protection for our intellectpabperty as we develop new products
enhance existing products. We may not be able taimlappropriate protection for our intellectuabperty in a timely manner, or at all. (
inability to obtain appropriate protections for antellectual property may allow competitors toembur markets and produce or sell the ¢
or similar products.

If we are forced to resort to legal proceedingsrtorce our intellectual property rights, the prexiegs could be burdensome and expensiy
addition, our proprietary rights could be at riske are unsuccessful in, or cannot afford to persiose proceedings.

We also rely on trade secrets and contract lawdtept some of our proprietary technology. We hentered into confidentiality and invent
agreements with our employees and consultants. iieless, these agreements may not be honorechagdtay not effectively protect c
right to our un-patented trade secrets and khow: Moreover, others may independently developssutiially equivalent propriete
information and techniques or otherwise gain actessir trade secrets and know-how.

In 1995, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office astbpghanges to the U.S. patent law that made the ¢aéissued patents 20 years from
date of filing rather than 17 years from the daftéssuance, subject to specified transition periddsginning in June 1995, the patent t
became 20 years from the earliest effective filitege of the underlying patent application. Thesangles may reduce the effective terr
protection for patents that are pending for moenttihree years. While we cannot predict the effeattthese changes will have on our busil
they could have a material adverse effect on oilityato protect our proprietary information. Fugtmore, the possibility of extensive delay
the patent issuance process could effectively redhe term during which a marketed product is ptet by patents.

We may need to obtain licenses to patents or @itugrietary rights from third parties. We may netdble to obtain the licenses required u
any patents or proprietary rights or they may notalailable on acceptable terms. If we do not abtaguired licenses, we may encou
delays in product development or find that the ttgw@ent, manufacture or sale of products requitiognses could be foreclosed. We n
from time to time, support and collaborate in resea@onducted by universities and governmentalareseorganizations. We may not be ab
acquire exclusive rights to the inventions or técahinformation derived from these collaboratioasid disputes may arise over right
derivative or related research programs conducgagstor our collaborators.
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If we infringe on the rights of third parties, we may not be able to sell our products, and we may hawto defend against litigation an
pay damages.

If a competitor were to assert that our productsrige on its patent or other intellectual properitshts, we could incur substantial litigat
costs and be forced to pay substantial damages. I8igation costs could be as a result of diré@@ation against us, or as a result of litiga
against one or more of our partners to whom we lcamtractually agreed to indemnify in the event thar intellectual property is the caust

a successful litigious action against our partrirird-party infringement claims, regardless of their oate, would not only consur
significant financial resources, but would alsoedtvour managemerst’time and attention. Such claims could also cawsecustomers i
potential customers to purchase competitprgducts or defer or limit their purchase or useoof affected products until resolution of
claim. If any of our products are found to viol#téd-party intellectual property rights, we mayb&o reengineer one or more of our produ
or we may have to obtain licenses from third partie continue offering our products without substdre-engineering. Our efforts to re-
engineer or obtain licenses could require signifiexpenditures and may not be successful.

We may not be successful in defending the lawsuiteéfd by Biovail Laboratories SLR against us and mayhave to reimburse certain lege
expenses and damages awarded.

While we believe that the lawsuit filed by Biovdibboratories SLR (Biovail), which holds the patéat Wellbutrin XL®, against ot
development partner Cary Pharmaceuticals Inc. (B&grma), in the U.S. District Court for the Distrof Delaware for patent infringem:
under the provisions of the Drug Price Competiteord Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, is withfmutndation or merit, if Biovail
successful in its action against Cary Pharma, we mae to reimburse Cary Pharma’s legal expenstmaady damages awarded.

Our controlled release products that are generic wsions of branded controlled release products thatre covered by one or mor
patents may be subject to litigation, which could dlay FDA approval and commercial launch of our prodicts

We expect to file or have our collaborators filebiviated New Drug Applications or New Drug Applicas (ANDAs or NDAs) for ot
controlled release products under developmentatetovered by one or more patents of the brandmtlpt. It is likely that the owners of
patents covering the brand name product or the ssperof the NDA with respect to the branded prodmitit sue or undertake regulatc
initiatives to preserve marketing exclusivity. Asignificant delay in obtaining FDA approval to merlour products as a result of litigation
well as the expense of such litigation, whethenotr we or our collaborators are successful, coddeha materially adverse effect on
business, financial condition and results of openat

Risks Related to Our Securities:

The price of our common stock could be subject tagnificant fluctuations. Any of the following factors could affect the matlgice of ou
common stock:

Our failure to achieve and maintain profitability;

Changes in earnings estimates and recommendatydinsancial analysts;

Actual or anticipated variations in our quartergults of operations;

Changes in market valuations of similar companies;

Announcements by us or our competitors of signifiGontracts, new products, acquisitions, commerelationships, joint ventures
capital commitments;

The loss of major customers or product or compogseppliers;

The loss of significant partnering relationshipsg a

e General market, political and economic conditions.

We have a significant number of convertible se@sgibutstanding that could be exercised in theréut8ubsequent resale of these and
shares could cause the Compangtock price to decline. This could also make arendifficult to raise funds at acceptable leveaks future
securities offerings.

We have a concentration of stock ownership and coml, and a small number of stockholders have the dlity to exert significant control
in matters requiring stockholder vote and may haventerests that conflict with yours.
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Directors and others hold 34% of our common st&#e “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovenand ManagementAs a resul
such stockholders, acting together, may have thigyalo control matters requiring stockholder appal, including the election of directors ¢
approval of mergers and other significant corpotatesactions. This concentration of ownership imaye the effect of delaying, preventing
deterring a change in control of our company. Iyrakso deprive our stockholders of an opporturitydceive a premium for their share:
part of a sale of our company and may affect theketaprice of our common stock. In deciding howwate on such matters, the
stockholders’ interests may conflict with yours.

Directors Independence

Currently, we have a majority of independent dmest but in the future we cannot guarantee thatBmard of Directors will always have
majority of independent directors. In the absenta majority of independent directors, our chiekentive officer, who is also a princi|
stockholder and director, could establish policdesl enter into transactions without independeniere\xand approval. This could present
potential for a conflict of interest between then@pany and its stockholders generally and the cimgoofficers, stockholders or directors.

Our common stock is a high risk investment.

Our common stock has been quoted on the OTC Bullgbard under the symbol “IGXTSince January 2007 and has been listed on the
Venture Exchange under the symbol “IGX” since M&p&.

There is a limited trading market for our commawckt which may affect the ability of shareholdersséll our common stock and the price
which they may be able to sell our common stock.

The market price of our common stock has been N@land fluctuates widely in response to varicastdrs which are beyond our control.
price of our common stock is not necessarily intilleaof our operating performance or long term bhass prospects. In addition, the secul
markets have from time to time experienced sigaificprice and volume fluctuations that are unreldte the operating performance
particular companies. These market fluctuations elsy materially and adversely affect the markitepof our common stock.

In the United States, our common stock is consitlerépenny stock”The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission hagtedaoules thi
regulate broker-dealer practices in connection witmsactions in “penny stocksThese rules further restrict the trading activityd
marketability of our common stock.

As a result of the foregoing, our common stock $thdwe considered a high risk investment.

We became public by means of a reverse merger, ad a result we are subject to the risks associatedth the prior activities of the
public company with which we merged. In addition, ve may not be able to attract the attention of majoibrokerage firms or institutional
buyers .

Additional risks may exist because we became pubiimugh a "reverse merger" with a shell corporatidithough the shell did not have rec
or past operations or assets and we performed alitigence review of the public company, there t@nno assurance that we will not
exposed to undisclosed liabilities resulting frdra prior operations of our company.

Security analysts of major brokerage firms and sges institutions may not cover us since therme o brokerdealers who sold our stock i
public offering who would have an incentive to &l or recommend the purchase of our common stockadsurance can be given
established brokerage firms will want to condugt inancings for us in the future.

Item 2. Properties.

We currently occupy 3,100 square feet of leasedespa a rate of CDN$8.64/square foot in an indalsgone in Ville Stkaurent, Quebe
Canada under a five year renewable lease agreesiggred in 2004. We extended the term of the legseement to August 31, 2010 un
similar financial conditions, with the option tort@nate at any time after February 28, 2010, predidve give four monthshotice. Wi
expanded our laboratory and office space at thiditfato its maximum during the second quarter2806. In order to continue to supf
ongoing product development activities and allow #ddition of further development programs we migatrequired to seek a differ
location in 2010. Management has started the sdarditernative, or additional, facilities that uld meet our short to medium requiremen
affordable rates.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In June of 2009 we announced that our New Drug isptibn filing for our antidepressant CB0O had been accepted by the FDA for star
review. We entered into a collaborative agreemeitit ®ary Pharma in November 2007 to jointly devedon commercialize CF300 usini
our proprietary oral delivery technology. CPI-380ai novel, high strength dosage of Bupropion H@, dctive ingredient in Wellbutrin &
for which Biovail Laboratories SLR (Biovail) holdee patent. As required in connection with thenfjliof the NDA, our development part
Cary Pharma, which serves as the NDA applicantyigen notice of the NDA filing to Biovail assertirthat CPI300 would not infring
Biovail's patents. On August 18, 2009, we learded Cary Pharma was named in a lawsduit filed byw&ian the U.S. District Court for t
District of Delaware for patent infringement undlee provisions of the Drug Price Competition anteRaTerm Restoration Act of 1984 w
respect to Biovail's U.S. Patent No. 6,096,341V@llbutrin XL®. The filing of the patent infringement lawsuit inated an automatic stay
any FDA approval of the NDA until the earlier ofumlgment or January 3, 2012. Although we are noardy to the action, a negative decit
may have an effect on our potential revenues rgjato CPI300. Further, in accordance with the collaboratgreement, if Biovail
successful in their lawsuit, we may have to inddynf@iary Pharma for any litigation costs incurred,damages awarded. Cary Pharma
IntelGenx believe that CPI-300 does not infringeiil's patent and will vigorously assert theithiigy

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders.
During the quarter ended December 31, 2009 no rsattere submitted to a vote of security holders.
PART I
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.

Our common stock has been quoted on the OTC Bullgbiard under the symbol “IGXTSince January 2007. In addition, our common ¢
has been listed on the TSX Venture Exchange umesymbol “IGX”since May 2008. The table below sets forth the laigti low bid price
of our common stock as reported by the OTC Bull&ward and the TSX for the periods indicated. Thpsees represent inteleale
guotations without retail markup, markdown, or coission and may not necessarily represent actussacions.

OTCBB TSX
High Low High Low

(U.S.9) (U.S.9) (CDN$) (CDN$)
2009
Fourth Quarte $0.71 $0.52 $0.70 $0.57
Third Quartel $0.70 $0.50 $0.74 $0.51
Second Quarte $0.60 $0.28 $0.62 $0.37
First Quartel $0.60 $0.25 $0.75 $0.40
2008
Fourth Quarte $0.95 $0.30 $0.90 $0.50
Third Quartel $0.98 $0.67 $1.09 $0.85
Second Quarte $1.01 $0.80 $1.00 $0.80
First Quartel $1.02 $0.51 $ N/A $ N/A
2007
Fourth Quarte $1.05 $0.45 $ N/A $ N/A
Third Quartel $1.90 $0.87 $ N/A $ N/A
Second Quarte $1.31 $0.60 $N/A $N/A
First Quartel $1.20 $0.67 $ N/A $ N/A
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Number of Shareholders

On March 29, 2010 there were approximately 66 hsldg record of our common shares, one of which @ade & Co., a nominee
Depository Trust Company and one of which was Thaadian Depository for Securities Limited, or CI28.of our common shares held
brokerage firms, banks and other financial instiug in the United States and Canada as nominedsefficial owners are considered tc
held of record by Cede & Co. in respect of brokerigns, banks and other financial institutionghe United States, and by CDS in respe
brokerage firms, banks and other financial indting located in Canada. Cede & Co. and CDS are eaasidered to be one shareholde
record.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsuo common stock. We currently intend to retaig aarnings to support operations
to finance the growth and development of our bissn&herefore, we do not expect to pay cash didslém the foreseeable future. Any fut
determination relating to our dividend policy wile made at the discretion of our Board of Directord will depend on a number of fact
including future earnings, capital requirementsaficial conditions and future prospect and othetofa that the board of directors may d
relevant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
2006 Stock Option Plan

A majority of our shareholders approved the 200&SOption Plan at our Annual General Meeting afcBholders held on August 10, 20
Under the 2006 Stock Option Plan, up to 1,600, #es of common stock may be issued upon the eeeofioptions granted to directc
management, employees and consultants.

In May of 2008, the term of all options granted enthe 2006 Stock Option Plan was amended to pedada term not to exceed five years
order to ensure compliance with applicable ruled mgulation of the TSX Venture Exchange.

At the Annual General Meeting of Stockholders opt8&mber 8, 2008, our shareholders approved an amantdo the 2006 Stock Option P
in order to increase the number of shares availatdier the plan by 473,251, to 2,074,000.

As of December 31, 2009, 2,202,676 options have ssied, 222,571 options have been exercised)@3Qyere forfeiture, 382,017 expil
and 1,348,088 options remain outstanding unde2®® Option Plan.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2009

Number of Securitie Weightec- Number of securitie
to be issued upa Average remaining availabli
exercise o Exercise Price ¢ for future issuanc
outstanding option: outstanding under equity
options, compensation plar

(excluding securitie
reflected in the firs

column)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved
Security Holder: 1,348,08¢ $0.56 503,341
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved
Security Holder: None None None
Total 1,348,08¢ $0.56 503,341
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On September 26, 2006 we granted options to puec?2s,000 shares of common stock to threeerployee directors. These options hav
exercise price of $0.41, vest upon issuance andeerp September 26, 2016. The expire date wasegulesitly amended to September
2011.

On October 1, 2006 we granted options to purchas® 69,000 shares of common stock to a consulfdm@se options have an exercise
of $0.41, vest upon issuance, and expire on Octbp2016. The expire date was subsequently amewndgeptember 26, 2011.

On November 9, 2006 we granted options to purchas® 450,000 shares of common stock to the CECaam@nagement employee. Tt
options have an exercise price of $0.41, vest ugpsumance, and expire on November 9, 2016. The exfate was subsequently amende
September 26, 2011.

On November 13, 2006 we granted options to purchps® 250,000 shares of common stock to a comdulfdese options have an exer
price of $0.41, vest over two years at the rat@5%o every six months, and expire on November 1262The expire date was subseque
amended to September 26, 2011.

On November 16, 2006 we granted options to purchpge 100,000 shares of common stock to emplogads25,000 options to a consult
These options have an exercise price of $0.41, axemt 2 years at the rate of 25% every six mordhs, expire on November 16, 2016.
expire date was subsequently amended to SepterGb2021.

On August 9, 2007 we granted options to purchase 07,500 shares of common stock to four eorployee directors. These options hav
exercise price of $1.15, vest upon issuance, apileegn August 9, 2017. The expire date was sulesgtyjuamended to August 9, 2012.

On August 9, 2007 we granted options to purchase t}»,000 shares of common stock to our Vice Begdiof Business Development. Th
options have an exercise price of $1.15, vest @wearars at the rate of 25% every six months, apiteon August 9, 2017 The expire date
subsequently amended to August 9, 2012.

On August 9, 2007 we granted options to purchast utb,000shares of common stock to our chief financialagffi These options have
exercise price of $1.15, vest over 2 years at alte of 25% every six months, and expire on Auguf047The expire date was subseque
amended to August 9, 2012. As the result of thaiteation of the employment agreement the 7580@ons to purchase common stock exf
un-exercised in November of 2008.

On May 22, 2008 we granted options to purchaseoul{l76 shares of common stock to two of our employee directors. These opti
have an exercise price of $0.85, vest immediatetyexpire on May 22, 2013.

On May 29, 2008 we granted options to purchase u0,000 shares of common stock to Auctus Cajpitebnsideration for investor relati
services. The option grant was subject to shareh@gdproval to increase the number of shares fedoed under the 2006 Stock Option F
The shareholders approved to increase the numlsranés by 473,251, to 2,074,000 at the Annual GéMeeting on September 8, 2008.
options granted to Auctus Capital have an exenuiige of $1.00, and vest based on a combinaticthefichievement of certain performa
conditions and the passage of time. The optiongexm May 29, 2013. As the result of the termioatof the agreement all options to purcl
common stock expired un-exercised in May of 2009

On September 8, 2008 we granted options to purdyase 75,000 shares of common stock to a employee director of the company. Tt
options have an exercise price of $0.85, vest iniatel¢ and expire on September 8, 2013.

On September 8, 2008 we granted options to puralade 100,000 shares of common stock to our dhiahcial officer. These options he
an exercise price of $0.85, vest over 2 yearseatdte of 25% every six months, and expire on Seipée 8, 2013.

On March 11, 2009 we granted options to purchase @5,000 shares of common stock to an employd¢beofompany. The options have
exercise price of $0.31, vest over 2 years atateaf 25% every six months, and expire on March2014.

On October 3, 2009 we granted options to purchas® 50,000 shares of common stock to Little Gefe Science Partners in considera
for investor relation services. The options haveeaarcise price of $0.55, vest 50% on the firsty 803% on the second anniversary of
agreement and expire on October 3, 2012.
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On November 24, 2009 we granted options to purchpg® 125,000 shares of common stock each to tfreer nonemployee directors, t
chief financial officer and the chief executiveioffr. The options have an exercise price of $0Téik options for the noamployee directo
vest immediately, the options for the executive kiyges vest over 2 years at the rate of 25% evenmynanths. All options expire on Novem|
24, 2014.

On January 22, 2010 we granted options to purchpge 50,000 common stock to Sector Speak in cenaiithn for investor relation servic
The options have an exercise price of $0.47, v@%i bn the first, and 50% on the second annivershtlie agreement and expire on Jan
22, 2013.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable

Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operation.
Introduction to Management’s Discussion and Analys

The purpose of this section, Managemgmiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esults of Operations, is to provide a narri
explanation of our financial statements that erabigestors to better understand our businessttaree our overall financial disclosures
provide the context within which our financial imfisation may be analyzed, and to provide informa@out the quality of, and poten
variability of, our financial condition, results operations and cash flows. Unless otherwise ingitaall financial and statistical informat
included herein relates to our continuing operatiohhis information should be read in conjunctioithuthe accompanying Consolida
Financial Statements and Notes thereto.

Company Background

We are a drug delivery company established in 2008 headquartered in Montreal, Quebec, Canadahwbaises on the developmen
novel oral immediate-release and controlfettase products for the pharmaceutical market.lDsiness strategy is to develop pharmace!
products based on our proprietary drug delivenhtetogies and, once the viability of a product lhesn demonstrated, to license
commercial rights to partners in the pharmaceutimddistry. In certain cases, we rely upon our gagnn the pharmaceutical industry to f
development of the licensed products, completerégrilatory approval process with the FDA or othegulatory agencies relating to
licensed products, and assume responsibility faketeng and distributing such products.

In addition, we may choose to pursue the developroknertain products until the product reachesrttegketing and distribution stage. -
Company will assess the potential for successfutld@ment of a product and associated costs, aem determine at which stage it is n
prudent to seek a partner, balancing such costasighe potential for additional returns earnechytnering later in the development process.

The Company has also undertaken a strategy undehtwill work with pharmaceutical companies irder to develop new dosage forms
pharmaceutical products for which patent proteci®nearing expiration. Under §(505)(b)(2) of theoH, Drug, and Cosmetics Act, the F
may grant market exclusivity for a term of up toeth years of exclusivity following approval of atéd drug that contains previously apprc
active ingredients but is approved in a new dosdggage form, route of administration or combinatior for a new use, the approval of wi
was required to be supported by new clinical triaiher than bioavailability studies, conducted dsyfor the sponsor. (Seesbvernmer
Regulation”). The Company anticipates significattirns from successfully obtaining market exclugiin this manner.

The Company is currently continuing to develop élxésting products in its pipeline and may also perf research and development on ¢
potential products as opportunities arise.

The Company does not currently plan to acquire aufaeturing facility. The Company currently purceasand/or leases, on anraeede
basis, the equipment necessary for performing reBemd development activities related to its podslu

The Company plans to hire new personnel, primanilthe area of research and development, on areeded basis as the Company enter
partnership agreements and increases its reseadae@elopment activities.
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Key Developments

Since the end of fiscal 2008 the Company improwsdccash reserves, freed its balance sheet from detitmade significant progress i
number of its research and development projectsmibst notable of which are the following:

Financial:
Raised approximately $3.9 million in the third qtearthrough private placement

On July 13, 2009 the Company closed a private ptece offering of approximately 10.5 million speciahrrants for gross proceeds
approximately $3.6 million. Each special warrantitéss its holder to receive, upon exercise or degmxercise thereof, one common sha
the Company and one common share purchase wagactt. warrant entitles the holder thereof to puret@ase common share of the Comg
at a price of $0.80 until July 13, 2012.

On July 22, 2009, as part of a private placemédm,Gompany issued 350,000 units to investors inuhiged States for gross proceed
approximately $127.5 thousand. Each unit consistsne common share of the Company and one commare giurchase warrant. E:
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one comshane at an exercise price of $0.80 per commoresirat expires 36 months after the da
issuance.

On September 3, 2009, as part of a private placerfenCompany issued 250,000 units to investargifoss proceeds of approximately $¢
thousand. Each unit consists of one common shatteedompany and one common share purchase wagact. warrant entitles the holde
purchase one common share at an exercise pride &3 $er common share and expires 36 months afteddte of issuance.

Debt-free balance sheet:
Repaid convertible notes outstandii

On September 22, 2009, the Company repaid the dmlahthe convertible notes outstanding of $978disand. The Company had ent
into convertible note agreements with certain iogtinal and accredited investors on May 22, 2087 @mnounts totaling $1,500,000. ~
convertible notes bore interest at the rate of @b6gmnum, payable quarterly. The assets of the @aypvhich had been pledged as securi
the convertible notes, were released upon repayaféhe convertible notes.

Repaid loan payable, sharehold:

On December 4, 2009, pursuant to a board of dirgctesolution dated November 5, 2009, the Companyidepa loan payable, sharehol
in the amount of $88.2 thousand. The loan payailareholder, who is also an officer of the Compaves unsecured and bore interest a
per annum.

Research and Development Projects:
Antidepressant Table

On April 6, 2009 IntelGenx submitted an NDA to tiekfor CPI1-300. CPI300 is a higher strength of the antidepressantdpipn HCI, th
active ingredient in Wellbutrin XL®The NDA was accepted for standard review by the FDAune 2009. As required under NDA filin
IntelGenx's development partner Cary Pharmacestig@éry), the NDA applicant, notified Biovail Laledories SLR (Biovail), holder of ti
Wellbutrin XL patent of the filing contending nonfiingement of the Wellbutrin XL patent.

On August 18, 2009, Cary was sued by Biovail in th8. District Court of Delaware for patent infrexgent, under provisions of the D
Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Adt984 (Hatchwaxman Act), with respect to Biovail's U.S. Patiiot 6,096,341. Pursuz
to the Hatchwaxman Act, the filing of the patent infringemeatvsuit by Biovail instituted an automatic stay @A approval of the ND,
until the earlier of a judgment or January 3, 2048y decision could have an effect on IntelGenxdseptial revenues relating to CB0O
IntelGenx believes CPI-300 does not infringe Bitiggiatent and is vigorously defending its position

On January 11, 2010 IntelGenx announced a manuiiagtsite change for CF300. The original manufacturer, PharmPro of Aurdtz
("PharmPro") was sold to URL Pharma of Philadelplla. As a result of this acquisition, URL adviskdelGenx they would no long
manufacture CPB00. IntelGenx has identified and engaged Pillan&rfa, Arnprior, ON, as the new manufacturing fgcfior the produc
Arnprior is a state-of-the-art GMP facility withlang-standing record of manufacturing quality producttfee pharmaceutical industry. A
result of the manufacturing site change, IntelGand Cary are preparing an amendment to the NDA&lGenx expects that the changes
not materially affect the existing timeline for corarcialization of CPI-300.
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On January 21, 2010 IntelGenx announced the Ut8nPand Trademark Office ("USPTQO") issued a foriatice of Allowance for the pate
application protecting CPI-300. The patent waseadson March 9, 2010 under the number US 7,674 4 7@ll be listed in the FDAS Orang
Book and will provide broad protection for CPI-38@ainst generic copies.

On February 8, 2010 IntelGenx received a CompletepBnse Letter (CRL) from the FDA regarding GBP0. The CRL lists two main isst
which need to be addressed before obtaining fippiaval: 1) qualification of Pillar5 as the commatenanufacturing site and 2) an obsel
food effect seen with CF300 and the reference product. The FDA found nerotiotable deficiencies in the NDA. As noted in da@uary 1:
2010 press release, the FDA was notified abouarBillintelGenx believes the food effect issue camaddressed through a label adjustmen
post-approval education. In addition, the Compalanp to conduct a pilot food effect study with tablets having a modified entt
coating. In the coming weeks IntelGenx will requesheeting with FDA to clarify the steps necesdargbtain approval. IntelGenx is confid
the activities required to support the NDA amendiam be completed in time for a submission ingtheond half of 2010.

Neuropathic Pain Table!

On April 14, 2009 IntelGenx and its developmenttipar, Cannasat Therapeutics Inc. (Cannasat), asedupositive Phase 1b results
Relivar, a buccal formulation of dronabinol. Thendamized, single dose, double blind crossover stmiypared CannasatRelivar witt
Marinol 2.5 mg in healthy volunteers. Relivar deligd twice the amount of dronabinol into the bldon as the brand with no increas
side effects due to a corresponding reduction énrtietabolite responsible for the CNS adverse affetdronabinol. Relivar was develoj
using IntelGenx’s proprietary AdVersa buccal delwtchnology.

On March 4, 2010 IntelGenx and Cannasat annourieedigning of a Letter of Intent for a definitiiednse agreement under which IntelC
would acquire a fifty percent ownership stake fr@ennasat and an exclusive worldwide license toldpvaend commercialize Relivar. Ug
completion of the transaction, IntelGenx would &sswsole product development and commercializatigints for Relivar and would forgi
approximately CAD$231 thousand of debt owed by @aanh

Antihypertensive Table

On April 20, 2009 IntelGenx announced results gilat study showing development of a product bidealent to a leading antihypertensi
The product was developed using IntelGenx’s progne VersaTab delivery technology. Scale-activities are ongoing at the cont
manufacturer. The product is being developed uadstrategic alliance between IntelGenx and DAVA rRtaceuticals Inc. (DAVA). Und
terms of the alliance, IntelGenx will complete tdevelopment. DAVA has commercialization rights fretU.S. IntelGenx will recei
development milestones and a share of DAVA's reesnu

Anti-migraine Film:

On November 17, 2009 IntelGenx announced resule mifot study showing successful development pfaduct bioequivalent to a lead
antiimigraine therapy. The product was developed usiteGenx's proprietary VersaFilm drug delivery tealogy. It is anticipated the pivo
bioequivalence study will be conducted in 2010 tredNDA filed shortly thereafter.

VersaFilm Manufacturing:

On January 25, 2010 IntelGenx announced a stradditgaace with LTS Lohmann Therapf&ysteme AG (LTS) for the exclusive manufactu
of pharmaceutical products developed by IntelGesirguits VersaFilm drug delivery technology. VergaHs comprised of a thin polyme
film using components that are safe and approvedhbyFDA.VersaFilm provides a patent-protected metbf reformulating approve
pharmaceuticals in a more convenient and discretiedosage form. It is particularly intended fodiications requiring a rapid onset of act
IntelGenx currently has three products in develapnoging the VersaFilm technology.
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Currency rate fluctuations

The Company’s operating currency is Canadian dgllatile its reporting currency is U.S. dollars.caodingly, the Companyg’ results ¢
operations and balance sheet position have beectedf by currency rate fluctuations. The followimgnagement discussion and analysis
this into consideration whenever material.

Results of Operations - Year ended December 31, ZD6ompared to Year ended December 31, 2008.

In US$ thousands 2009 2008 Increase/ Percentage
(Decrease’ Change

Revenue $ 1,278. $ 976.t $ 302.1 31%
Research and Development Exper 1,421.° 2,085.¢ (663.7%) 32%
Research and Development Tax Cri (184.¢) (305.7) 121.1 40%
Management Salarie 583.¢ 551.¢ 32.C 6%
General and Administrative Expens 360.1 212.¢ 147.2 69%
Professional Fee 437.4 695.2 (257.¢) 37%
Interest and Financing Fe 784.¢ 766.1 18.3 2%
Foreign Exchang (97.9 (222.9 25.C 20%
Income taxe: (130.9) (151.¢) 21.c 14%
Net Income (Loss (1,940.9 (2,806.9) 866.( 31%
Revenue

Total revenue increased $302.1 thousand, or 31%1®78.7 thousand for the year ended Decembe2(19 from $976.6 thousand for
year ended December 31, 20

The increase in revenue is primarily attributaloledyalty revenues earned from commercializatiotheffirst product fullydeveloped by tf
Company, a prenatal multivitamin supplement markete Gesticare@n the USA, which was commercialized in Novembe®&0Royalt
revenue received in the year ended December 3B @0@unted to $276.7 thousand (2008: $Nil). Revermiced pursuant to our resez
and development agreements with our pharmaceyarahers for development milestones achieved ingaalightly from $945.7 thousand
2008 to $998.2 thousand in 2009, representing crease of $52.5 thousand, or 6%.

Also included within revenue is interest income §¥.8 thousand and $30.9 thousand in the years ebDeéedmber 31, 2009 and 2(
respectively. The decrease in interest earnedcteftbe change in the cash position of the Compdaryg with the change in financial mat
conditions and interest rates.

Research and Development Expenses

R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, decrease®®2.6 thousand, or 30%, to $1,237.1 for the yedeé December 31, 2009 from
previous year's level of $1,779.7 thousand.
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Gross R&D expenses reduced by $663.7 thousand%t 8om $2,085.4 thousand in the year ended Deeeib, 2008 to $1,421.7 thous:
in the year ended December 31, 2009. The decrsgs@marily attributable to a reduction of costtated to the development of the CBIE
pursuant to the collaboration agreement with Cdrgraceuticals, which amounted to $213.5 thousar#09 compared to $915.4 thous
in 2008, as a result of filing of our NDA with tiDA.

Also included within R&D expenses for 2009 are R&Blaries of $409.1 thousand, approximately $1.dgand of which represents noast
compensation. This compares to R&D salaries of 81#usand in 2008, including $13.4 thousand im-cash compensation.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, we havededastimated Research and Development Tax Caatitsefunds of $184.6 thousand
compared to $305.7 thousand for 2008. The reducélates partially to the reduction in R&D expensefiscal 2009 compared with 2008,
partially to the Company'’s listing on the TSXin May of 2008 resulting in Federal tax creditsiriy a credit to offset against future taxi
income as opposed to being refundable. The estihfRésearch and Development Tax Credits and refah&484.6 thousand recorded
fiscal 2009 relates to the amount refundable by@hebec authorities.

Management Salaries
Management salaries increased $32.0 thousand, dan @209, to $583.8 thousand from $551.8 thousarzDD8.

Included within management salaries are approxima#29.3 thousand in non-cash compensation in &mn fof options granted to non-
employee directors, as compared to $51.7 thousa@608, and approximately $20.7 thousand in noh campensation resulting from optis
granted to management employees in 2008 and 2@08prapared to $45.5 thousand in 2008. In 2009 thapany paid bonuses total
approximately $63.3 thousand to management compaittdno management bonus paid in 2008. Also inetlth management salaries
2008 are approximately $40.6 thousand in recurring cash compensation to non employee direabthe Company (no such costs v
incurred in 2009).

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses

G&A expenses increased from $212.9 thousand in 20@860.1 thousand in 2009, representing an isered $147.2 thousand, or 69%. -
increase in G&A expense is primarily attributaldean allowance for doubtful accounts of approxirya$d01.4 thousand to cover exposur
loss in the December 31, 2009 accounts receivadl@nbe, and approximately $24.3 thousand to vafiter deposit paid in 2008 in respec
the anticipated lease of new premises, which Mamagé has decided not to pursue.

Also included within G&A expenses for 2009 are diog’s fees and expenses of $42.0 thousand, comparkds®dt3 thousand in 2008. 1
increase is primarily attributable to the implenagicin of annual stipends with effect from the thigdarter of 2009 of CAD$12
(approximately US$11.4 thousand) to our non empajieectors, together with increases in attendéeee for board and committee meetings.

Professional Fees

Professional fees for the year ended December @19 Becreased by $257.8 thousand, or 37% to $4Bduband from $695.2 thousanc
2008.

The decrease in professional fees is primarilyibattable to management fees of approximately $228atsand that were paid to C
Pharmaceuticals in 2008 related to the CPI 30Qaptessant (no such costs were incurred in 200@),eapenses of approximately $1(
thousand incurred in 2008 related to the Compaligting on the TSX Venture Exchange. These iterege partially offset by an increase
legal expenses in 2009 of approximately $64.4 tandsrelated to the CPI1-300 litigation.

Share-Based Compensation Expense, Warrants and StoBased Payments

Sharebased compensation expense, warrants and share pageents totaled $104.4 thousand for the yeaedmkcember 31, 2009,
compared to $365.2 thousand for the year endedrbleee31, 2008.

During 2009 we expensed approximately $37.2 thadi$2608: $58.9 thousand) for options granted to @amy employees in 2007, 2008
2009 under the 2006 Stock Option Plan, $29.3 thulig2008: $51.7 thousand) for options granted to-eraployee directors, and $3
thousand (2008: $50.4 thousand) for options gramtéavestor relation firms for investor relatiosarvices.
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In 2008 we also expensed $111.6 thousand in coionestth the amendment of the awiiiution terms of convertible notes issued in M&p2
As consideration for entering into this amendmérg, Company agreed to issue to the note holdeaggregate of 159,456 fully paid comn
shares. At the same time, the exercise price aftauding warrants held by the note holders wassgatjufrom $1.02 to $0.80, resulting in
increase in the fair value of the warrant and aditemhal compensation charge of $92.6 thousandh®&xpenses did not recur in fiscal 2009.

There remains approximately $49.8 thousand in sbhaded compensation to be expensed in fiscal 20d®811 related to the issuanct
options during 2008 and 2009. We anticipate thatwteissue additional options and warrants in theure, which will continue to result
stock-based compensation expense.

Financing Cost

We incurred interest and financing fee expense7@4$ thousand for the year ended December 31,, 2808ompared to $766.1 thousan
2008. Approximately $670,108 of the expense incuime2008 relates to non-cash items.

The costs in the year ended December 31, 200®reiabarily to a noreash accretion expense of $523.9 thousand andmasbst paymen
of $668.0 thousand on the convertible notes issudday 2007. These amounts compare with $465.9sh0d and $79.2 thousand respecti
for the year ended December 31, 2008.

In the third quarter of 2009, $253.9 thousand ofvestible notes were exchanged for 705,158 shdresromon stock. Certain convertible n
holders took advantage of a oti@e option that arose as a result of our thirdripra?009 Special Warrant Offering to convert pafrthe
convertible debt at CDN$0.40 (approximately US$D.3ér share as opposed to the convertible notecaget rate of $0.70 per share. -
conversion resulted in a debt conversion expen$d 4.9 thousand, which was expensed in the thiedtgr of 2009.

In the year ended December 31, 2008 we also exgebiskl.6 thousand related to the amendment ofritieddution terms of the convertik
notes whereby, as consideration for entering ihte &amendment, the Company agreed to issue todlierds of the convertible notes
aggregate of 159,456 fully paid common shareshatdame time the exercise price of the outstandimgants to the debenture holders
adjusted from $1.02 to $0.80 resulting in an inseein the fair value of the warrants and an additicompensation charge of $92.6 thous
Such expenses did not recur in fiscal 2009.

On September 22, 2009 the Company repaid the kmlahthe convertible notes outstanding of $976@igland. As a result, Managen
anticipates a significant decrease to the Compdimasicing cost in future periods.

Foreign Exchange

A foreign exchange gain of $97.9 thousand was degbiin 2009, as compared to a foreign exchangedb$422.9 thousand in 2008. 1
foreign exchange gain in both years relate primpaailcurrency fluctuations between the Canadiatadahnd the U.S. dollar.

Net Loss
The net loss for the year ended December 31, 28pfoived by $866.0 thousand, or 31%.

The Company recorded a net loss of $1,940.4 thausathe year ended December 31, 2009, as compar$d,806.4 thousand in 2008. °
following summary highlights the main areas of ioygment:

a) Revenue increased by 31%, or approximately $30®lisand, primarily as a result of the fact that @empany commenc
receiving royalty revenues in 20(

b) R&D expenses, net of R&D tax credits, reduced b%630r approximately $542.6 thousand, primarily doghe filing of th
NDA for our antidepressant C-300.

C) Professional fees decreased by 37%, or approxiynei@b7.8 thousand, primarily attributable to mamaget fees ¢
approximately $222.2 thousand that were paid toy G#rarmaceuticals in 2008 related to the CPl 30@epressant, ai
expenses of approximately $108.7 thousand incumezD08 related to the Compasyfisting on the TSX Venture Exchan
neither of which recurred in 200

d) Increased General and Administrative expenses 47 ®1thousand, primarily related to a provision &counts receivable
$101.4 thousand, partly offsets the above improves
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Non-cash related expenses totaling approximately $8dinbusand are included within the net loss for2@3 follows:

a)
b)

$523.9 thousand in respect of accretion expenskeoonvertible notes issued in May 20

$174.9 thousand in respect of a debt conversiorerese resulting from $253.9 thousand of convertitiées, which wei
exchanged for 705,158 shares of common stock ithihe quarter of 2009. Certain convertible notédieos took advantage o
onetime option that arose as a result of our thirdrepre?009 Special Warrant Offering to convert grthe convertible debt
CDN$0.40 (approximately US$0.36) per share as ggpusthe convertible note agreement rate of $pefGhare

$44.6 thousand in respect of the amortizatiomadiasset:

$37.9 thousand for options granted to investotim@ieirms as per investor relations agreeme

$37.2 thousand for options granted to Company eyegi®

$29.3 thousand for options granted to -employee director:

Non-cash related expenses totaling approximately $88@usand are included within the net loss for& @3 follows:

9)
h)

$465.9 thousand in respect of accretion expensbkeooonvertible notes issued in May 20

$111.6 thousand related to the amendment ofathiedilution terms of the convertible notes whereby,cassideration fc
entering into this amendment, the Company agreésste to the holders of the convertible notesggregate of 159,456 ful
paid common share

$92.6 thousand additional compensation chargenmglad the amendment of the exercise price of thistanding warrants to t
note holders from $1.02 to $0.80 resulting in aréase in the fair value of the warre

$58.9 thousand for options granted to Company eyegi®

$51.8 thousand in respect of the amortizatiomadiassets

$51.7 thousand for options granted to -employee director:

$50.4 thousand for options granted to an investiation firm as per the investor relations agreetr

Key items from the Balance Sheet

In US$ thousands Increase/ Percentage
2009 2008 (Decrease’ Change

Current Asset $ 2,703.. $ 1,464.. $ 1,238." 85%
Property and Equipme 158.¢ 157.1 1.3 1%
Current Liabilities 704.5 525.7 178.¢ 34%
Loan Payable, Shareholc - 82.2 (82.9) N/A
Convertible note - 714.F (714.5 N/A
Deferred Income Tax Liabilit - 127.¢ (127.9) N/A
Capital Stock 0.3 0.2 0.1 50%
Additional Pai«-in-Capital 8,809.! 5,080.¢ 3,728." 73%

Current Assets

Current assets totaled $2,703.1 thousand at DeaeBihe2009, as compared to $1,464.4 thousand a¢rbleer 31, 2008. The increase
$1,238.7 thousand is primarily attributable to meréase in cash of approximately $691.7 thousasultheg from the completion of our privi

placement in

the third quarter of 2009, an incredseccounts receivable of $301.2 thousand andeease of investment tax credits receiv

of $242.6 thousand.

Prepaid Expenses

As of December 31, 2009, prepaid expenses total8dlghousand, as compared to $44.9 thousand anibesr 31, 2008.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Excluding trade accounts payable and accrued iliaisil the Company is committed to the followingntractual obligations and commitments:

In US$ thousands 2010 (Less thar 1 Year or
1 year) More
Operating Lease Obligatiol $ 17.3 $ 0
Investor relatior $ 83.3 $ 0
Total $ 100.6 $ 0

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents totaled $1,524.%#molias of December 31, 2009, an increase of $@B&usand as compared to $8:
thousand as of December 31, 2008. The increag@isuly attributable to proceeds received from finizate placements completed in the t
guarter of 2009. Our cash and cash equivalentsbalas of December 31, 2008 included a restricésti @mount of $277.2 thousand. -
amount represented the remaining balance of tr@82)00 in cash that was set aside under the tefife Collaborative Agreement ratif;
on April 7, 2008 with Cary Pharmaceuticals to jbindevelop and commercialize an oral antidepressaing IntelGenxs proprietary or:
delivery technology.

As at December 31, 2009, we had an accumulateditdefi$6,665.4 thousand, as compared to an acatedideficit of $4,725.0 thousanc
of December 31, 2008. Total assets amounted t@&$B8housand and shareholdexguity amounted to $2,157.0 thousand as of DeceBit
2009, as compared with total assets and sharekodketgrity of $1,621.5 thousand and $171.6 thousesplectively, as of December 31, 2008.

As of December 31, 2009, accounts receivable wtH#d 8.3 thousand (2008 3%7.1 thousand), of which $138.3 thousand is ssdaberefun
which we expect to receive during the first quad€010. Included within the accounts receivabddahce as of December 31, 2009 i
allowance for doubtful debts in the amount of $808ousand (2008: $nil). In addition, we had R&restment tax credits receivable
$511.8 thousand, as compared to $269.2 thousaat Bscember 31, 2008. We expect to receive the R&Bstment tax credits during
second and third quarters of 2010.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of Dmer 31, 2009 amounted to $704.5 thousand (200825.8 thousand), of whi
approximately $491.5 thousand relates to reseamdhdavelopment activities, approximately $92.8 gamd relates to professional fees,
approximately $93.3 thousand relates to accruedopalabilities. Included within other accruals a&pproximately $12.1 thousand due
shareholders.

Property and Equipment

As at December 31, 2009, the net book value ofppoperty and equipment amounted to $158.4 thousasdpmpared to $157.1 thousar
December 31, 2008. In the year ended December08B, &dditions to assets totaled $24.6 thousanccamprised $5.5 thousand for comp
equipment, $18.6 thousand for laboratory equiprmeamd, $0.5 thousand for office equipment, fixtured &ttings. Total depreciation in the y
ended December 31, 2008 amounted to $44.6 thowsahé foreign exchange gain of $21.3 thousand e@wded.

Loan Payable, Shareholder

Pursuant to a board of directors'solution dated November 5, 2009, the loan payahiareholder, was repaid on December 4, 2009 l0&r
payable, shareholder, who is also an officer ofGoenpany, was unsecured and bore interest at 6%rpemm. As of December 31, 2008,
loan payable to a shareholder had an outstandingipal amount of $82.4 thousand.
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Capital Stock

As at December 31, 2009, capital stock amountegDt8 thousand compared to $0.2 thousand at Dece®dh@008. The increase reflects
issue of 11,076,000 shares at par value of $0.Q00RiCh relates to the private placements complatete third quarter of 2009. Capital st
is disclosed at its par value with the excess ofgeds shown in Additional Paid-in-Capital.

Private Placement of Convertible Notes and Warri- May 2007

On May 22, 2007 the Company entered into convertiloite agreements with certain institutional amdtedited investors for amounts total
$1.5 million. The convertible notes bore interesth@ rate of 8% per annum and were repayable pteSder 22, 2009. Interest was pay
quarterly and payments commenced on July 1, 208&. Aotes were convertible into common stock of @menpany, at the option of t
holders, at a rate of $0.70 per share. The Complyyissued to the holders 2,142,857 stock purciaseants exercisable at $1.02 per s
before May 22, 2012.

On May 22, 2007, the Company paid approximately9$22housand in cash consideration and issued miarfgith a fair value of $83
thousand in consideration for transaction costgséhransaction costs were allocated between tineedible debt and the warrants base
their relative fair value.

Substantially all of the assets of the Company vpbeelged as security of the convertible noteshinyear ended December 31, 2009, $
thousand of interest was paid (2008 - $103.8 thwdisand $523.9 thousand of interest was accr@@e8(- $465.9 thousand).

In the year ended December 31, 2009, $253.9 thdushithe outstanding convertible notes were comeeinto 705,158 common shal
Certain convertible note holders took advantage ohetime option that arose as a result of our thirdrgpre2009 Special Warrant Offering
convert part of the convertible notes at CDN$0&@p¢oximately US$0.35) per share as opposed todheertible note agreement rate of $
per share. This conversion resulted in a debt asitwe expense of $174.9 thousand, which was expandée third quarter of 2009.

On September 22, 2009 the Company repaid the balafnthe convertible notes outstanding of $976cisand and, consequently, the sec
against the assets of the Company was released.

In the year ended December 31, 2008, $165.0 thdusiaconvertible notes was exchanged for 235,7 eshof common stock.
Private Placements of Common Stock and Warr- Third Quarter of 2009

On July 13, 2009, as part of a private placeméat,Gompany issued 10,476,000 special warrantsrémsgoroceeds of US$3,631.4 thous
Each special warrant consists of one common shrat@ae common share purchase warrant. Each wamdities the holder to purchase
common share at an exercise price of $0.80 per comshare and expires 36 months after the datesohize. Proceeds were alloci
between the common shares and the warrants basétewrrelative fair value. The common shares wemworded at a value of $2,33
thousand.

The Company paid agents a cash commission in tleueinof $290.5 thousand, which is equal to 8% ef ghoss proceeds of the offeri
issued 419,040 common shares of the Company taghets equal to 4% of the number of special wasrasued in the offering and issi
agents’options entitling the agents to acquire 838,08@sufionsisting of one common share and one comimare purchase warrant) at $C
per unit, which expire 36 months after the datésefiance. Each common share purchase warrant ettlindthe agentsoptions entitles tr
holder to purchase one common share at an exqrdise of $0.80 per common share and expires 36 msaafter the date of issuance of
unit.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $37#0dusand in cash consideration for other transaaasts. All the above transaction ¢
have been reflected as a reduction to the commarestand the warrants based on their relatives&dires.

On July 22, 2009, as part of a private placemémt,Gompany issued 350,000 units to investors fosgyproceeds of $127.5 thousand. |
unit consists of one common share and one commare gfurchase warrant. Each warrant entitles theéehab purchase one common sha
an exercise price of $0.80 per common share anlesxp6 months after the date of issuance. Proceeds allocated between the comtr
shares and the warrants based on their relativedhies. The common shares were recorded at & @dl$81.4 thousand.
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In addition, the Company paid approximately $9.8ufand in cash consideration for other transaatasis, which have been reflected .
reduction of the common shares and the warrantsdbas their relative fair values.

On September 3, 2009, as part of a private placgrtrenCompany issued 250,000 units to investargifoss proceeds of $92.9 thousand. |
unit consists of one common share and one commane gfurchase warrant. Each warrant entitles theéelnab purchase one common sha
an exercise price of $0.80 per common share andlesxp6 months after the date of issuance. Proceeds allocated between the comr
shares and the warrants based on their relativedhie. The common shares were recorded at a ¢fl$89.2 thousand.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $7.@uand in cash consideration for other transaatasis, which have been reflected .
reduction of the common shares and the warranedbas their relative fair values.

In the year ended December 31, 2009, 31,071(2®08500) stock options were exercised for 31,07mon shares having a par value of ¢
aggregate, for cash consideration of $21.8 thoysasdlting in an increase in additional paid-ipita of $21.8 thousand.

Additional Paid-in-Capital

Additional paidin capital totaled $8,809.5 thousand at December2809, as compared to $5,080.8 thousand at Dece®&ihe2008. Th
increase is attributable to increases of $2,4784dand, $1,373.3 thousand, and $160.7 thousarttidqorivate placements completed in
third quarter of 2009 in relation to common stoskued, warrants and placement agent compensagpeatesely as well as a decreas
$984.0 thousand for transaction costs. Additioraitign capital also increased by $249.7 thousamdsfock based compensation. Of
amount, $145.3 thousand relates to agesitek compensation for the issuance of 419,040 comshares of the Company to the agents
to 4% of the number of special warrants issuedindffering completed on July 13, 2009, and $1@dotisand relates to the amortizatiol
stock options granted to employees, directors, tanan investor relations consultant. Additionaldoa capital increased further by $4Z
thousand for converted notes and by $21.8 thoufsarmbtions exercised.

Key items from the Statement of Cash Flows

Increase/ Percentage
2009 2008 (Decrease’ Change
Operating Activities $ (1,588.) $ 1,737.0) $ (148.9) 9%
Financing Activities 2,131.: 2,478.¢ (347.7) 14%
Investing Activities 254k (284.7) 538.¢ 190%
Cash and cash equivaler- end of perioc 1,524.¢ 556.( 968.¢ 174%

Statement of cash flows

Net cash used by operating activities was $1,58&8sand in the year ended December 31, 2009,rapazed to $1,737.0 thousand for
same period in 2008. In 2009, net cash used byatipgractivities consisted of an operating los$b040.4 thousand and a decrease in non
cash operating elements of working capital of $3@8ousand.

Non-cash items included in operating activities tadad@proximately $720.4 thousand, as follows:

a) $523.9 thousand in respect of accretion expenskeboonvertible notes issued in May 20

b) $174.9 thousand in respect of a debt conversiorerese resulting from $253.9 thousand of convertiiées, which wel
exchanged for 705,158 shares of common stock ithihe quarter of 2009. Certain convertible notédieos took advantage o
onetime option that arose as a result of our thirdrepre?009 Special Warrant Offering to convert grthe convertible debt
CDN$0.40 (approximately US$0.36) per share as ggptsthe convertible note agreement rate of $pefGhare

C) $44.6 thousand in respect of the amortization>eddiassets

d) $37.9 thousand for options granted to investotim@ieirms as per investor relations agreeme

e) $37.2 thousand for options granted to Company eyegi®

f) $29.3 thousand for options granted to -employee director:

)] ($127.4 thousand) in respect of deferred incomestated to the convertible del
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Our operating activities will continue to consumg available funds until we can generate increaseenues.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $2,13thousand for the year ended December 31, 280@pmpared to $2,478.8 thous
provided in 2008. Of the net cash provided by foiag activities in 2009, $3,851.8 thousand camenfrprivate placement financin
completed in the third quarter, less $677.9 thodassed to pay related transaction costs, and $BbiBsand was generated from the isst
capital stock in the second quarter. In addition September 22, 2009 the Company repaid the balantte convertible notes outstanding
$976.3 thousand and, pursuant to a board of di€ctesolution dated November 5, 2009, on December089 Zepaid the loan payat
shareholder, of $88.2 thousand, thereby freeingrapany’s balance sheet of debt.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $354ousand for the year ended December 31, 2009&a@d to a use of funds of $28
thousand in 2008. Net cash provided by investirtiyiies in 2009 includes $277.2 thousand of cdsdt had been restricted for the C3RIE
project under the collaborative agreement with Rttgrmaceuticals.

Cash of $22.7 thousand was used to purchase capgtets in 2009, as compared to $7.1 thousandi 20

The balance of cash as of December 31, 2009 anuot§1,524.9 thousand, as compared to $556.0 @imduat December 31, 2008. *
increase in cash is primarily the result of proseedm the private placements completed in thelthirarter of 2009 that was partially offse
repayment of the balance of convertible notes antihg as of September 22, 2009, and repaymentoaingpayable, shareholder.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements for the fiscal years egpddecember 31, 2009 and 2008, required by Itene&atrforth on pages F-1 through F-30.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision attd thé participation of our management, our Chieédtitive Officer and Chief Financ
Officer have concluded that the Company's disclsmntrols and procedures as defined in Rules 58)And 15dt5(e) under the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchangé) Aw¢re effective as of December 31, 2009 to ensuatittiormation required to |
disclosed by the Company in reports that it fileswbmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recordedc@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the Securities andharnge Commission rules and forms and (ii) accutedland communicated to the Compa
management, including our Chief Executive Officad a&Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to alltmely decisions regarding requil
disclosure.

b. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Repding

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr have concluded that there were no changeseirCompanys internal controls ov
financial reporting during the quarter ended Decenil, 2009 that have materially affected or assoeably likely to materially affect t
Company'’s internal controls over financial repagtin
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c. Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraathtaining adequate internal control over finahoigorting, as such term is definec
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s interoahtrol system was designed to provide reasonabseirance to the Compasy’
management and board of directors regarding theapation and fair presentation of published finahstatements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welk@med, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etlese systems determined to be effe
can provide only reasonable assurance with respdictancial statement preparation and presentation

The Company’s management, including the Commahief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic assessed the effectiveness o
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2009. In making this assessnienCompanys management used
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoringg@izations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) riterhal Control-tegrate:
Framework. Based on this assessment, managemeéevdsethat, as of December 31, 2009, the Compamgernal control over financ
reporting was effective based on those criteria.

This Annual Report does not include an attestateport of the Company's registered public accogntirm regarding internal control o\
financial reporting. Management's report was nbjett to attestation by the company's registerddipaccounting firm pursuant to tempor
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissianpiianit the Company to provide only managemeapsrt in this Annual Report.

Item 9B. Other Information.
We do not have any information required to be disetl in a report on Form 8-K during the fourth ¢eraof 2009 that was not reported.
PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.

Name Age Position Position since
Horst G. Zerbe 63 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief ExeeutivApril 2006
Officer

Paul A. Simmon: 48 Chief Financial Office September 200
J. Bernard Boudree® @ 65 Director June 2006

lan Troup® @ 67 Director May 2008
Bernd Melcher® 58 Director April 2009
Ingrid Zerbe 55 Secretary and Director of Finance and Administra  April 2006

(1) Audit Committee member (2) Compensation Conmgrithember

All directors hold office until the next annual nieg of stockholders and until their successorseHasen duly elected and qualified. There
no agreements with respect to the election of threc Officers are appointed annually by the baoafrdlirectors and each executive offi
serves at the discretion of the board.

Horst G. Zerbe, Ph.D.

Dr. Zerbe has more than 20 years experience iplilhemaceutical industry. He has been the Presi@dmef Executive Officer, and Chairnr
of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. since April 2006.alddition, Dr. Zerbe has served as the Presiddnigf Executive Officer and Director
IntelGenx Corp., our Canadian Subsidiary, sinces26@om 1998 to 2005, he served as the preside®inafrtrix Technologies Inc. in Montre
prior thereto, from 1994 to 1998, he was Vice Riesi of R&D at LTS Lohmann Therapy Systems in Weatdwell, NJ. Dr. Zerbe h
extensive executive level experience, and has kesponsible for many strategic and business iiviéiat Dr. Zerbe has been involved in 1
drug development and the acquisition and dispasitibnew drug candidates and other technologynsicey and distribution matters that
likely to affect our compang’ own business efforts. He has published numerociestific papers in recognized journals and holgera3(
patents. Dr. Zerbe is married to Ingrid Zerbe, @arporate Secretary and Director of Finance and iAtnation.
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Paul A. Simmons

Mr. Simmons was appointed as our Chief Financidic®f in September 2008. From 202808, Mr. Simmons was employed by the CL/
Group, a leading manufacturer of agricultural hatwg machinery. Mr. Simmons was initially basedGabup HQ in Germany as Head
Corporate Controlling. In August 2005, he transddrto the Baler Manufacturing subsidiary (UsinesA85 France) as Director of Finance |
Administration, where he was responsible for depiglg and implementing a business turnaround plahowing the success of the turnarot
Mr. Simmons was transferred in September 2006 éd-tlench subsidiary Renault Agriculture as HeaG@afporate and Industrial Controlli
with the mandate to restructure and integrate &veynacquired Tractor Manufacturing Division inteet CLAAS Group.

Mr. Simmons’international finance credentials include an Asstiah of Financial Controllers and Administratofs=CA) certification, and
designation with the Association of Accounting Teicians (MAAT). He has expertise in both U.S. GatlgrAccepted Accounting Principl
(GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Stanida(IFRS).

J. Bernard Boudreau

Mr. Boudreau has been a director of IntelGenx sihase 2006. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. Boudreau seagethe VicePresident of Pharme
International Inc., a pharmaceutical manufacturdmgl consulting company listed on the Toronto StBgkhange. Since 2001, he has t
President and CEO of Radcliffe Consulting and Iowesit Limited, a private consulting firm located Hialifax, N.S. Mr. Boudreau has a
served on the Board of Directors of a number oflipiand private companies, including Export Devehgmt Canada and the Bank of Canada.

Mr. Boudreau has worked as a lawyer and as a poffiial in Canada. His litigation experience indes appearances at every level o
judicial system in Nova Scotia. He was appointe@agen's Counsel in 1985. Mr. Boudreau was firstted to the provincial legislature
Nova Scotia in 1988. He served as Chair of the iPWdcounts Committee and opposition critic for &lce and Economic Development
1993 he was relected as a member of government and held redplitiess as Minister of Finance, Minister of Healt@hair of the Cabin
Priorities and Planning Committee. Mr. Boudreawsdras Government Leader in the Senate of CanatldMamber of the federal Cabil
between 1999 and 2001.

lan (John) Troup

Mr. Troup has been a director of IntelGenx Techgi@e Corp. since May 2008. From April 2008 to Deben2009 Mr. Troup was a Direc
of Vital Medix, an early stage drug development pamy. In July 2007 he was appointed to the Boardieflisyn Technologies Inc.,
privately held "in silica" drug discovery and demeient company. From September 1995 until hisenamnt in December 2003, Mr. Trc
was President and Chief Operating Officer of UpsBmiith Laboratories, a privately held pharmaceuti@ahpany. Prior to this he servec
President of Schwarz Pharma in the UK for sevensydallowed by serving as President of SchwarzrifBaUSA in Minnesota for ¢
additional nine years.

Born and educated in Scotland, Mr. Troup has woikdtie pharmaceutical industry for over 35 ye@mdginally an industrial chemist, he h
executive positions in sales and marketing for sdveading companies. His experience includes pesduct development and launch, M
and strategic planning.

Bernd J. Melchers

Mr. Melchers has been a director of IntelGenx Tebbgies Corp. since April 2009. From January 206fl tnis retirement in December 2C
Mr. Melchers was Managing Director of 3 M Dyneonléing GmbH, Germany and Global Chief Financial €¢fi of the world wide operati
3M Dyneon Group, a subsidiary of 3M Corporationdweartered in Minnesota. Prior to this he servesinfJuly 1995 to December 2000
the Controller at the European Business CenterMf\Medical Markets Europe in Belgium. Prior to thig held various senior Financ
Manager positions at the Medicairgical Division of 3M in St. Paul, Minnesota, 3 Health Care Products, Germany, and at
Pharmaceutical Products, Germany.

Mr. Melchers is a 30-year veteran of the pharmacaluand health care industry with extensive hamalsaternational experience in corpol
financial management. He also brings a wealth efrirational team management skills and leaderstgpreence.
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Ingrid Zerbe

Mrs. Zerbe is our Corporate Secretary, DirectoFmfance and Administration and is a full time enygle of IntelGenx . Mrs. Zerbe is -
founder of IntelGenx Corp., our Canadian subsidi&tye served as the president of IntelGenx Congesits incorporation in June 2003 u
December, 2005. She has been a Director of thediakyssince its incorporation in June, 2003 aridir@ctor of the parent company from A|
2006 until August 2006. Prior to founding IntelGeske worked in the travel industry. She holds ehbkr degree in economics from
business school in Bottrop, Germany, and a bachdggree in social sciences from the University offtBhund, Germany. Mrs. Zerbe
married to Dr. Horst Zerbe, who is a PresidenteBtior and Chief Executive Officer.

Key Personnel and Consultants
James Wittenberg, R.Ph, MS

Mr. Wittenberg has served as IntelGenx's Vice Eerdi Business Development since August, 2007. Heasaumulated over 20 years
experience in the pharmaceutical industry in mar&séarch and most recently as Director of BusiDes®lopment at Schwarz Pharma.

Nadine Paiement, MSc

Ms. Paiement serves as our Director of Researclegeldpment. She joined IntelGenx in 2006. Ms. Paiginmolds a M.Sc. degree in Polyi
Chemistry from Sherbrooke University, and is coeintor of IntelGenx's Tri-ayer technology. Prior to joining IntelGenx, sherked for five
years as a formulation scientist at Smartrix Tetdgies, Inc.

The Board of Directors

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Company's Board of Directors held four meetishgisng our 2009 Fiscal Year. All our Directorsegitied all four meetings.
Compensation of the Board of Directors

Directors are reimbursed for their outqymdcket expenses incurred in attending meetingh®fBoard of Directors. As described belov
"Director Compensation”, during our 2009 Fiscal ¥eaur nonemployee directors were granted options to purchasaggregate of 75,0
shares of our common stock. Between November 2688f&e end of the second quarter of 2009, our wiregeceived cash compensatio
CDN $500 for attending board meeting in person @iN$100 for participating in board meetings vietenference. Effective as at the tl
quarter of 2009 the board of directors resolvedt the noremployee directors of the board received an anstiggnd of C$12,000, paid
quarterly installments. Furthermore an attendaeeeof CDN$1,000 was paid per board meeting. Thé&roka of the board committees
entitled to receive an additional C$500 and the trems1of the committees received an additional C$a@6attending the committee meetings.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has two standing committdbe: Audit Committee and the Compensation Commitideere is no Nominatic
Committee.

Audit Committee . The Audit Committee is currently composed of érriard Boudreau, lan Troup and Bernd Melchers, kvhie independe
directors. The Audit Committee held four meetingsinly our 2009 Fiscal Year. Joel Cohen had servedhe Audit Committee until
resignation from the board of directors in June200

Our Audit Committee assists our board of directardulfilling its responsibilities for oversight a@nsupervision of financial and account
matters. The chairman of the Audit Committee iBdrnard Boudreau. Our Audit Committeeresponsibilities include, among other:
recommending to the board of directors the engagerok the external auditor and the terms of theeedl auditors engagement; (
overseeing the work of the external auditor, ingligddispute resolution between management andterral auditor, if required; (iii) pre
approving all non—audit service to be provided $dby our external auditor; (iv) reviewing our firtdel statements, managemendiscussio
and analysis and annual and interim earnings prelesses before this information is publicly diseld; (v) assessing the adequac
procedures for our public disclosure of financigbrmation; (vi) establishing procedures to deahvdomplaints received by us relating to
accounting and auditing matters; and (vii) revieyvgur hiring policies regarding employees of outeexal auditor or former auditor. We hi
adopted, along with our Audit Committee, a writidmarter of the Audit Committee setting out the neatadand responsibilities of the At
Committee which provides that the Audit Committeawene no less than four times per year.
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Accordingly, the Audit Committee discusses with RRithter, LLP, our auditors, our audited financ#htements, including, among ot
things the quality of our accounting principlese tmethodologies and accounting principles appledignificant transactions, the underly
processes and estimates used by our managemenir ifinancial statements and the basis for the additconclusions regarding -
reasonableness of those estimates, in additidretauditor's independence.

Audit Committee Financial Expert. Joel Cohen served as our Audit Committee finaneigdert until his resignation in June of 2009.
Cohen was not an “independent director”, as definettie Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Marketplace RuBisce Mr. Cohers resignation, M
Bernd Melchers serves as the Financial Expert efAbdit Committee. Mr. Melchers is an ‘independdirector’ as defined in the Nasd
Stock Market, Inc. Marketplace Rules.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Daecturrently consists of J. Bernard Boudreau andTlroup
The Compensation Committee held its formal annuegting in November 2009 during the 2009 Fiscal YBawid CoffinBeach served on t
Compensation Committee until his resignation fréwa board of directors March 17, 2009.

Our Compensation Committee reviews and makes re@mdations to our board of directors concerningdbepensation of our execut
officers and key employees which include the revigfimour executive compensation and other humanuresopolicies, the review a
administration of any bonuses and stock optionsraapbr changes to our benefit plans and the rewkand recommendations regarding
performance of the Chief Executive Officer and @teef Financial Officer of the Company. Our Compaitn Committee is comprised of non-
management members of our board of directors arehisired to convene at least annually. Until kisignation in March of 2009 Mr. Coffin-
Beach was the chairman of our compensation comenifellowing his resignation, Mr. lan Troup filletie position as chairman of -
committee.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation. As stated above, the Compensation Committee canefstl. Bernai
Boudreau and lan Troup. There are no interlockielgtionships, as described by the Securities amth&#ge Commission, between
Compensation Committee members.

Executive Compensation

The key objectives of the Company's executive coragion policies are to attract and retain key ettees who are important to the loterr
success of the Company and to provide incentivestfese executives to achieve high levels of jobfgpmance and enhancement
shareholder value. The Company seeks to achiewse thbjectives by paying its executives a competitavel of base compensation
companies of similar size and industry and by piinyg its executives an opportunity for further redvéor outstanding performance in both
short term and the long term.

Executive Officer Compensation.The Company's executive officer compensation progsacomprised of three elements: base salary,a
cash bonus and long-term incentive compensatitimeiiorm of stock option grants.

Salary. The Compensation Committee and the Board of Dirsaigll review base salaries for the Company's atiee officers, takin
into account individual experience, job respongipénd individual performance during the prior y.€Bhese factors are not assigned a spt
weight in establishing individual base salariese Toompensation Committee will also consider the Gamy's executive officers' salal
relative to salary information for executives imgar industries and similarly sized companies.

Cash BonusesThe purpose of the cash bonus component of the ensapion program is to provide a direct finananeintive in th
form of cash bonuses to executives.
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Stock Options. Stock options are the primary vehicle for rewardioggterm achievement of Company goals. The objectifethe
program are to align employee and shareholder teng-interests by creating a strong and direct bielwveen compensation and increas:
share value. Under the Company's Stock Option Bt@nBoard of Directors or the Compensation Congaithay authorize the grant of opti
to purchase common stock of the Company to key eyepls of the Company. The options generally vestdrements over a period of ye
established at the time of grant except for théoogtgranted to the non-employees directors whésdt immediately.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings.

None of our officers or directors have, during thst ten years: (i) been convicted in or is culkestibject to a pending a criminal proceed
(il) been a party to a civil proceeding of a judicor administrative body of competent jurisdictiand as a result of such proceeding was
subject to a judgment, decree or final order emjgirfuture violations of, or prohibiting or mandadi activities subject to any federal or s
securities or banking laws including, without liatibn, in any way limiting involvement in any buegs activity, or finding any violation w
respect to such law, nor (iii) has any bankruptetitipn been filed by or against the business oittvisuch person was an executive officer
general partner, whether at the time of the bartkgupr for the two years prior thereto, other thdn Boudreau who was formerly the V
President of Pharmeng International Inc. from 2692008, which since filed for bankruptcy on Apt#d, 2009. He was also a Directol
Pharmeng until April 13, 2009.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires diregtofficers and persons who own more than 10%refjsstered class of our equity secur
to file reports of ownership and change in ownershith the Securities and Exchange Commission. dbars, officers and greater than 1
shareholders are required by SEC regulations tadhius with copies of all Section 16(a) forms tfi;

Based solely upon our review of the copies of docims that we received during the fiscal year endedember 31, 2009, we believe that ¢
person who at any time during the fiscal year wesector, officer, or beneficial owner of more thign percent of our common stock comg.
with all Section 16(a) filing requirements duringck fiscal year.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEtmat applies to our directors and officers,udalg our principal executive offic
principal financial officer and principal accourginofficer. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethgsposted on our website
http://www.intelgenx.com

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed theriéion contained in the 2009 first, second, thénmdd fourth quarter earnin
announcements with management of the Company aleghémdent registered public accounting firm prioptiblic release. They also reviev
and discussed the information contained in the 2088 second and third quarters’ Forms 10-Q anblyfear Form 10K with management
the Company and independent registered public atcaufirm prior to filing with the Securities arieikchange Commission. In addition,
Audit Committee met regularly with management andependent registered public accounting firm oriowsr financial and operatior
matters, including to review plans and scope oftawhd audit reports and to discuss necessamyracti

In connection with the Company’s fiscal 2009 coigaiked financial statements, the Audit Committes: ha
e reviewed and discussed with management the Companglited consolidated financial statements asafar fiscal year 2009;

e discussed with the Compamsyindependent auditors the matters required toidmissed by Statement on Auditing Standards No,
The Auditor's Communication with those Charged v@thvernanceand SEC rule 2-07; and

e received and reviewed the written disclosures ddletter from the Comparg/independent accountants required by Indepen
Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Bistisswith Audit Committees), as adopted by thelieubompany Accountin
Oversight Board in Rule 3600T, and has discuss#u tve independent accountant its independence.
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Based on the reviews and discussions referred aweatihe Audit Committee recommended to the Boardi the Board approved, that
audited consolidated financial statements refaiweabove be included in the Company’s Annual Reporform 10-K for fiscal year 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

J. Bernard Boudreau (Chair)
Bernd Melchers
lan Troup

Members of the Audit Committee
ltem 11. Executive Compensation.

The following table sets forth all compensation edea to, or earned by, our Principal Executive €ffi and our two other most hig
compensated executive officers for the years indita

Name and Option All Other

principal Awards Compensation

position Year Salary ($) Bonus %) %) Total ($)
(a) (b) (c) (f) (i) ()
Horst Zerbe, 2009 163,201 35,16803) 10,496(3) 208,865
President and 2008 178,427 Nil Nil 178,427
CEO
Paul A. Simmons 2009 135,227 $19,782 10,4964 165,505
CFO® 2008 45,738 Nil Nil 16,917 62,655
Footnotes:

(1) Mr. Paul A. Simmons jointed the Company in $egber 2008.

(2) Mr. Paul A. Simmons received a cash compensd#tinservices provided prior to his employmenteggnent.

(3) Mr. Zerbe received two cash bonuses in theexggge amount of $35,060 and options to purchag®@Shares of common shares.

(4) Mr. Simmons received two cash bonuses in tlggeagate amount of $19,782 and options to purcha®®Q@ shares of common shares.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Employment Agreements

Horst Zerbe. Effective December 1, 2005, we entered into an eympent agreement with Dr. Horst Zerbe, our Pregided Chief Executi\
Officer. The agreement is for an indefinite per@fdime. Under the agreement, Dr. Zerbe is entitedeceive: (1) a minimum base salar
CAD$175,000 per year; and (2) an annual bonus @que0% of base salary upon the performance ohierhilestones set out by the boar
directors.

As per recommendation of the Compensation Committeeboard of directors approved the increase of 2drbes minimum base salary
5% to CAD$ 183,750 effective as of September 2008%171,364 at yesgnd 2008). Effective November 15, 2009 the boardligéctor:
approved the increase of Mr. Zerbe’s minimum basdarg to CAD$ 200,000 (US$ 190,300 at yead 2009). Mr. Zerbe also received
bonus payment in the aggregate amount of CAD$ €041 the grant of options to purchase 25,000 shafecommon stock under i
company’s 2006 Stock Options Plan, following theoramendation of the Compensation Committee.
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Paul A. Smmons . Effective September 1, 2008, we entered intorapleyment agreement with Mr. Paul A. Simmons, toveeas our Chi¢
Financial Officer. Under the agreement, Mr. Simmanentitled to receive: (1) a minimum base sals#ZAD$150,000 (US$110,965 at year-
end 2008) per year, and (2) option grants under@@® Stock Option Plan, and (3) an annual bonuto 0% of his base salary upon
achievement of specific performance targets estiaddi by the the board of directors.

As per recommendation of the Compensation Comniittedoard of directors approved the increase of9¥nmons’minimum base salary |
6% to CAD$ 159,000 (US$ 151,290 at yeamd 2009) effective as of August 2009. Mr Simmols® aeceived two bonus payment in
aggregate amount of CAD$ 22,500 and the grant @fi@boptions to purchase common stock under thgpaags 2006 Stock Options Pl
following the recommendation of the Compensatiom@ittee.

Incentive Plan Awards

The following table presents information regardihg outstanding equity awards held by each of #med officers as of December 31, 2(
including the vesting dates for the portions okthawards that had not vested as of that date.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
Number of Securitiel Number of Securitie] Equity Incentive Pla
Underlying Underlyingl Awards: Number g Option
Unexercise Unexercise( Securities Underlyin Exercise Option
Options Optiong Price Expiration
Name #) #) Unexercise (%) Date
€) Exercisablé Unexercisabl Unearned Option (e) ®
(b) (©) (#)
(d)
Horst G. Zerbe Nil 25,000 Nil 0.61 Nov. 24, 2014
225,000 Nil 0.41 Nov. 9, 2011
Paul A. Nil 25,000 Nil 0.61 Nov. 24, 2014
Simmons 50,000 50,0001 Nil 0.85 Sep.8, 201

10n September 8, 2008, 100,000 options were graotddr. Paul Simmons in connection with his employmagreement. The options v
over two years, 50,000 of which are exercisablefggar-end 2009.

20n November 24, 2009, the board of directors apgdihe grant of 25,000 options to purchase comrtmeckgo each Mr. Horst Zerbe &
Mr. Paul Simmons. The options vest over two yemose of which are exercisable as of year-end 2009.

Director Compensation
The following table sets forth compensation paieach named director during the year end Decenmhez(®9.

In addition, directors are reimbursed for reasomab{penses incurred in their capacity as directocdding travel and other out-giacke
expenses incurred in connection with meetings ethibard of directors or any committee of the badrdirectors
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Non-Equity | Non-Qualified

Earned or Incentive All

Paid in Stock Option Plan Deferred Other

Cash Awards Awards CompensationCompensationCompensatiof
Name %) %) $) _ Total ($)
(@) (b) (€) (d) ($) Earnings 3) ()

(e) 3) )
(f)

J. Bernard Boudread 10,942 Nil 9,7521 Nil Nil Nil 20,694
David Coffin-Beact?3 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Joel Cohert* 952 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 952
John (lan) Troupg 9,385 Nil 9,7521 Nil Nil Nil 19,137
Bernd J. Melcherg 8,564 Nil 9,7521 Nil Nil Nil 18,316

1Represents 25,000 options to purchase common stswkd on November 24, 2009

2 Effective as at the third quarter of 2009 the bazfrdirectors resolved, that the nemployee directors of the board received an arstigenc
of C$12,000, paid in quarterly installments. Furthere an attendance fee of CDN$1,000 was paid pardomeeting. The chairmen of
board committees are entitled to receive an additi€$500 and the members of the committees redeineadditional C$250 for attending
committee meetings. Since November 2008 employee directors were entitled to a cash compiemstee of 500 Canadian Dollar per bc
meeting attendance and 100 Canadian Dollar pedhoaeting attendance by conference call. The casluats represent the equivalent |
Dollar value measured at the appropriate year antamge rate used in the financial statementseattual U.S. Dollar amounts paid at
time of payment.

3 Mr. Coffin-Beach resigned from the board of direston March 17, 2009.Mr. Cohen resigned from the board of directors @meJ30, 2009.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdud®e Compensation Discussion and Analysis apmgdn this document wi
management and based upon this review and disousstommended to the Board that the CompensatisouBsion and Analysis be inclut
in this proxy statement for filing with the SEC.

Respectively submitted,

lan Troup (Chair)
J. Bernard Boudreau

Members of the Compensation Committee
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

During 2009 we carried directors’ and officefigbility insurance at an approximate annual cds$18,188. As of November 15, 2009
insured amount has been increased to 2 Milliondsliesulting in an increased insurance premiuamofially $31,731.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Managemenand Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth certaifioinmation concerning the beneficial ownership of sliares of common stock by our directors
executive officers, and by each beneficial ownelfivaf percent (5%) or more of our outstanding comrstock. Based on information availe
to us, all persons named in the table have soleyaind investment power with respect to all shafesommon stock beneficially owned
them, unless otherwise indicated. Beneficial owmigrgs determined in accordance with Rule Bdnder the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended. In computing the number of shares ibellgfowned by a person or a group and the pasggnownership of that person or gre
shares of our common stock subject to options aramés currently exercisable or exercisable wibndays after the date of this prospectu
deemed outstanding, but are not deemed outstafaliige purpose of computing the percentage of egimp of any other person. Applica
percentage ownership is based upon 33,081,271ssbareommon stock outstanding as of March 28, 2@tless otherwise indicated,
address of each of the named persons is careadGlerix Technologies Corp., 6425 Abrams, Ville Stilemt, Quebec, H4S 1X9.

Name and Addres Amount and Nature Percent ¢
Of Owner Beneficial Ownershi Clas:
Horst G. Zerbd® 4,940,893.(1) 14.9%
Ingrid Zerbe@ 5,956,356.(2) 18%
Bernard J. Boudrez® 158,08(3) *
lan Troup® 100,00(4) *
Paul A. Simmon{® 81,25((5) *
Bernd J. Melcher(® 25,00((6) *
All directors and officers as a group (6persc?) 11,261,58 34%

* Less than 1%.

(1) In connection with the acquisition of IntelGeix 2006, Horst Zerbe became our President, Chigfcitive Officer and Director a
acquired 4,709,643.5 exchangeable shares of ouadizm holding corporation 6544631Canada Inc., aa@iam special purpose corpora
which wholly owns IntelGenx Corp. (the "ExchangeaBhares”). The 4,709,643.5 Exchangeable Sharesxahangeable, on a one for
basis, into shares of common stock of IntelGenxhfietogies Corp. at Horst Zerbe's discretion. Piwoexchanging the Exchangeable Sh
for shares of common stock, Horst Zerbe has thd tigvote 4,709,643.5 shares of common stock waiehcurrently held in trust on behal
Horst Zerbe. The 4,709,643.5 shares of common dtagk not been registered for resale at this timaddition to the Exchangeable She
Horst Zerbe's beneficial ownership includes 225 §itdres of common stock underlying options graNtedember 9, 2006, which are currel
exercisable. The options have an exercise prigdefl. It also includes 25,000 options to purchasemon stock at an exercise price of $(
granted November 24, 2009. The options vest overyears, 25% every six months, 6,250 of which amrasable within 60 days of tl
filing.

Horst Zerbe and Ingrid Zerbe are husband and wife.

(2) In connection with the acquisition of IntelGeimx2006, Ingrid Zerbe became our Secretary anddaactor of Finance and Administrat
and acquired 4,709,643.5 Exchangeable Shares.nk dfu2009 Ingrid Zerbe acquired 1,021,713 ExchahlgeShares from Joel Cohen |
private transaction. The 5,731,356.5 ExchangeabhéeS are exchangeable, on a one for one basisshiares of common stock of IntelG
Technologies Corp. at Ingrid Zerlsediscretion. Prior to exchanging the Exchange&blares, Ingrid Zerbe has the right to vote 5,735
shares of common stock which are currently heltrust on behalf of Ingrid Zerbe. The 5,731,356.8rek of common stock have not b
registered for resale at this time. In additionthti® Exchangeable Shares, Ingrid Zerbe's bene@iwiakrship includes 225,000 shares of com
stock underlying options granted November 9, 20@tich are currently exercisable. The options havexercise price of $0.41. Horst Ze
and Ingrid Zerbe are husband and wife.

(3) Mr. Boudreau's beneficial ownership consistZ®000 exercisable options to purchase commolk stban exercise price of $0.70 (adju:
from $0.41 in May 2008), granted in October 2008580 exercisable options to purchase common stbak exercise price of $1.15, gral
on August 9, 2007 and 25,588 options to purchaseman stock at an exercise price of $0.85. On Aud@st2008 Mr. Boudreau exercis
35,000 options at an exercise price of $0.70 irharge for the same number of shares of common .s@ckNovember 24, 2009, 25,(
exercisable options to purchase common shareseteanise price of $0.61 were granted to Mr. Boadre
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(4) Mr. Troup's beneficial ownership consists of 75,000 exerdésaptions to purchase common stock at an exepeise of $0.85, granted
September of 2008. On November 24, 2009, 25,00 isable options to purchase common shares atencieg price of $0.61 were grante:
Mr. Troup.

(5) Mr. Simmons' beneficial ownership consists 60,000 options to purchase common stock at an iseegrice of $0.85, granted
September of 2008. The Options vest over two y@&%, every six months, 75,000 of which are exebtesaithin 60 days of this 10K filing.
also includes 25,000 options to purchase commaksiban exercise price of $0.61, granted Noven2der2009. The options vest over 1
years, 25% every six months, 6,250 of which areasable within 60 days of this filing

(6) Mr. Melcher's beneficial ownership consist26f000 exercisable options to purchase common stbak exercise price of $0.61, grante
November of 200¢

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence.
Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions wih Related Persons

Although IntelGenx has not adopted formal procesldioe the review, approval or ratification of trawons with related persons, we adhe
a general policy that such transactions should belyentered into if they are on terms that, onwhele, are no more favorable, or no
favorable, than those available from unaffiliatbttd parties and their approval is in accordanci @pplicable law. Such transactions rec
the approval of our board of directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, $4,900tefest was paid to Ingrid Zerbe, our secretay director of finance and administrat
for interest on a long-term shareholder loan. ™amlin the amount of $88,200 originated in 2004 wad repaid to Mrs. Zerbe in Decembel
2009. Ingrid Zerbe was also paid $17,800 undergaipenent lease for the year ended 2009. The legsees on August 31, 2010.

Director Independence

Three of our currently four directors are deemettl&pendent directorsgs defined by the Nasdag Stock Market, Inc. MatkegppRules. W
cannot guarantee that our Board of Directors Willag's have a majority of independent directorsthim absence of a majority of indepent
directors, our executive officer, who is also anpipal stockholder and director, could establiskicges and enter into transactions with
independent review and approval thereof. This cquissent the potential for a conflict of interestviieen the Company and its stockhol
generally and the controlling officers, stockhokler directors.

Family Relationships
Horst Zerbe and Ingrid Zerbe are husband and wife.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the fees accruegaid to the Company's independent registered pabliounting firm during fiscal years 2(
and 2008. The Company’s financial statements fosdhyears were audited by RSM Richter LLP.

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

2009 2008
Audit Fees (1 $ 68,74¢ $ $115,07:
Audit-Related Fees (Z
Tax Fees (3 $ 7,75t
All Other Fees
Total $ 76,50 $ 115,07.

(1) Audit fees are fees for services provided inrextion with the audits of the Company's annurrftial statements and quarterly review
interim quarterly financial statements, as welhadit provided in connection with other statutongl aegulatory filings.
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(2) Audit-related fees are aggregate fees billed for asserand related services that are reasonably relatdte performance of the audi
review of the financial statements and are notretlse reported as Audit fees.
(3) Tax fees are aggregate fees billed for profesdiservices rendered for tax compliance, taxa\dand tax planning.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

2.1 Share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006rpocated by reference to the Fori-K/A filed on April 28, 200€

3.1 Articles of incorporation (incorporated by refererto the Form S-2 (File No. 33:-90149) filed on November 16, 19¢€

3.2 By-Laws (incorporated by reference to the Forn-2 (File No. 33-91049) filed on November 16, 199

3.3 Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation (incorgied by reference to amendment No. 2 to Forr-2 (File No. 33- 135591
filed on August 28, 200¢

4.1 Warrants dated March 16, 2006 issued to Patrickaduso (incorporated by reference to the Forr-2 (File No. 33-135591)
filed on July 3, 2006

5.1 Legal Opinion (To be filed by amendme

9.1 Voting Trust agreement (incorporated by referencté¢ Form -K/A filed on April 28, 2006)

10.1 Horst Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatecefgrence to the Form ¢-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!

10.2 Joel Cohen consulting agreement (incorporated feyarce to the Form $-2 (File No. No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!

10.3 Ingrid Zerbe employment agreement (incorporatedefgrence to the Form -2 (File No. 33.-135591) filed on July 3, 2001

10.4 Registration rights agreement, incorporated byresfee to the Form £-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!

10.5 Principal's registration rights agreement (incogped by reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200!

10.6 Investor relations consulting agreement (incorpetdty reference to the Form -2 (File No. 33--135591) filed on July 3, 200¢

10.7 2006 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by referendti¢ Form -8 filed on November 21, 200

10.8 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporayectference to the Forn-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.9 Form of 8% Secured Convertible Debenture (incoreatrdy reference to the Forr-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.10 Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorpordigdeference to the Forn-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.11 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbeté-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.12 Form of Security Agreement (incorporated by refeeeto the Form-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.13 Subsidiary Guarantee (incorporated by referen¢bed-orm i-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.14 Deed of Hypothec (incorporated by reference taRbien ¢-K filed on May 23, 2007

10.15 Agency Agreement (incorporated by reference tdren &K filed on March 28, 2008

10.16 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated bgrefce to the Formr-K filed on March 28, 2008

10.17 Form of Amending Letter to Subscription Agreemént@rporated by reference to the For-K filed on March 28, 200€

10.18 Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorpordigdeference to the Forn-K filed on March 28, 2008

10.19 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to tbent¢-K filed on March 28, 2008

10.20 Form of Lock up Agreement (incorporated by refeeetacthe Form -K filed on March 28, 2008

10.21 Brokers Warrant (incorporated by reference to the Fo-1 filed on March 24, 200¢

10.22 Form of Amended and Restated Warrant (incorporbyectference to the Forn-K filed on August 4, 200€



10.23 Employment Contract Paul A. Simmons (incorporateddierence to the Forn-K filed on September 5, 200

10.24 Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Option Plan, Mag@3%8
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16.1

211

23.1*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ther€-1 filed on March 24, 200¢

Letter on change in certifying accountant (incogted by reference to the Form SB-2 (File No. 333591) filed on July !
2006)

Subsidiaries of the small business issuer (incerearby reference to the Form-2 (File No. 33-135591) filed on July 3, 200
Consent of RSM Richter LL

Certification of Horst G. Zerbe President and Chigkecutive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbane-Oxley Act o
2002.

Certification of Paul Simmons, Chief Financial @#t, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Horst G. Zerbe, President and Cligecutive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of ®arbane®©xley Act o
2002.

Certification of Paul A. Simmons, Chief Financidfi®er, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sect®wr 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrantdhag caused this Form 1R-Annual Report t
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned on Mag;2010, thereunto duly authorized.

INTELGENX TECHNOLOGIES CORP.

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbt
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

By: /s/Paul Simmon
Paul A. Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Accounting Officer

In accordance with the requirements @f 8ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, this FormKL@nnual Report has been signed by
following persons in the capacities and on theglatdicated.

Position Date

By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe President, Chief Executive Officer, Direc March 29, 201(
Horst G. Zerb

By : /s/Paul Simmon Chief Financial Officel March 29, 201(
Paul Simmon

By:/s/Bernard Boudreal Director March 29, 201(
J. Bernard Boudres

By: /s/lan Troup Director March 29, 201(

John (lan) Trou

By:/s/Bernd Melcher: Director March 29, 201(

Bernd J. Melchel
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

RSM Richter Chamberland S.E.N.C.R.L.
Comptables agréés
Chartered Accountants

2, Place Alexis Nihon

Montréal, (Québec) H3Z 3C2
Téléphone / Telephone : (514) 934-3400
Télécopieur / Facsimile : (514) 934-3408
www.rsmrch.com

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
IntelGenx Technologies Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of IntelGenx Technologies Corp. as aelber 31, 2009 and 2008 and
related consolidated statements of operations amtbrehensive loss, shareholders' equity and casVs ffor the years then ended. Tt
financial statements are the responsibility of @mpany's management. Our responsibility is to esgran opinion on these finan
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaflo(United States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform an audit to obteasonable assurance whether the financial statsraee free of material misstatement.
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidesupporting the amounts and disclosures in thenéieh statements. An audit also inclu
assessing the accounting principles used and mignifestimates made by management, as well asaivgj the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audits providessonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial sta&eta present fairly in all material respects, thmaricial position of the Company as
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results opésations, comprehensive loss, and its cash flowthe years then ended in accordance
accounting principles generally accepted in thetddhStates.

We were not engaged to examine management’s assatiout the effectiveness of the Comparigiternal control over financial reporting
at December 31, 2009 included in the accompanying K filing and, accordingly, we do not expressoaimion thereon.

Chartered Accountants

Montreal, Quebec
March 29, 2010




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2009 and 2008

(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

2009 2008
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivale 1524¢ $ 556.(
Restricted cash (note - 277.%
Accounts receivab 618.: 317.1
Prepaid expens 48.1 44.¢
Investment tax credits receiva 511.¢ 269.2
2,703.: 1,464.
Property and Equipment (note 6) 158.¢ 157.1
2,861.! $ 1,621.!
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabili 704.% 525.7
Convertible notes (note - 714.%
Deferred income tax liabili - 127.¢
704.k 1,367.¢
Loan Payable, Shareholdei(note 8) - 82.%
Commitments and Contingency(note 10)
Shareholders' Equity
Capital Stock (note 11) 0.3 0.2
Additional Paid-in-Capital 8,809.! 5,080.¢
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss 12.€ (184.9
Accumulated Deficit (6,665.9) (4,725.0
2,157.( 171.¢
2,861.! $ 1,621.!

See accompanying notes
Approved on Behalf of the Board:

/s//Bernard J. Boudrea Director

/s/Horst G. Zerbe Director




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paid-In Comprehensiv. Accumulatec  Shareholders

Number Amount Capital Income (Loss Deficit Equity
Balance - December 31, 2007 16,157,14 $ 0z $ 2,071.¢ $ 58t $ (1,918.9 $ 211.¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm: - - - (242.9 - (242.9)
Issue of common stock, net of transaction cos@#1db.3 (note 11 4,001,001 - 1,712.¢ - - 1,712.¢
Warrants issued, net of transaction costs of $1@1o& 12) - - 541.t - - 541.F
Cashless warrants exercised (note 5,18¢ - - - - -
Agen''s options (note 12 - - 95.C - - 95.C
Stock-based compensation (note : - - 161.C - - 161.C
Options exercised (note 1 191,50( - 88.7 - - 88.7
Warrants exercised (note 1 100,00( - 41.C - - 41.C
Modification of warrant terms (note 1 - - 92.€ - - 92.€
Debenture conversions (note 235,71 - 165.( - - 165.C
Stock compensation to debenture holders (not¢ 159,45¢ - 111.€ - - 111.€
Net loss for the yee - - - - (2,806.9) (2,806.9)
Balance- December 31, 200: 20,850,00. $ 0.z $ 5,080.6 $ (184.9) $ (4,725.0 $ 171.¢

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

Accumulatec

Additional Other Total
Capital Stock Paid-In Comprehensiv. Accumulatec  Shareholders

Number Amount Capital Income (Loss Deficit Equity
Balance - December 31, 2008 20,850,00. $ 0z $ 5,080.¢ $ (184.9) $ (4,725.0 $ 171.¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm: - - - 197.( - 197.C
Issue of common stock, net of transaction cos®688.4 (note 11 11,076,00 0.1 1,845.( - - 1,845.:
Warrants issued, net of transaction costs of $36h& 12) - - 1,022.° - - 1,022.°
Stock-based compensation (note : - - 104.¢ - - 104.¢
Agent¢ options (note 12 - - 160.7 - - 160.7
Options exercised (note 1 31,07: - 21.¢ - - 21.¢
Convertible notes conversions (note 705,15¢ - 428.¢ - - 428.¢
Agent¢ stock compensation (note 1 419,04( - 145.: 145.:
Net loss for the perio - - - - (1,940.9) (1,940.9)
Balance — December 31, 2009 33,081,27 $ 0.2 $ 8,809.! $ 12.€ $ (6,665.9 $ 2,157.0:

See accompanying notes
F-4



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

2009 2008
Revenue $ 1,274 $ 945.7
Interest 3.8 30.¢
1,278." 976.¢
Expenses
Research and developrr 1,421.° 2,085.¢
Research and development tax cr: (184.6) (305.%)
Management salar 583.¢ 551.¢
General and administrat 360.1 212.¢
Professional fe: 437 .. 695.2
Depreciatio 44.¢ 51.¢
Foreign exchan (97.9) (122.9)
Interest and financing fe 784.4 766.]
3,349.: 3,934.¢
Loss Before Income Taxe (2,070.7) (2,958.0
Income taxes (note 1. (130.9) (151.¢)
Net Loss (1,940.9) (2,806.9)
Other Comprehensive Income
Foreign currency translation adjusttr (197.0 (242.9
Comprehensive Los: $ (1,743.) $ (2,563.1)
Basic Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstandir 24,527,54 19,657,22
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share (note $ (0.0 $ (0.14)

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in Thousands of U.S. Dollars ($'000) Eept Share and Per Share Data)

2009 2008
Funds Provided (Used-
Operating Activities
Net los: (1,940.9) $ (2,806.9)
Depreciatiol 44.¢ 51.¢
Investor relations servic 37.¢ 50.£
Stoc-based compensatic 66.5 110.7
Modification of warrant tern - 92.¢
Interest accretic 523.¢ 465.¢
Debt conversion exper 174.¢ -
Deferred income te (127.9) (151.¢)
Amendment of convertible not - 111.€
(1,220.() (2,075.()
Changes in n-cash operating elements of working capital (note (368.2) 338.(
(1,588.9) (1,737.0
Financing Activities
Issue of capital stox 3,873.! 2,930.¢
Transaction cos (677.9 (451.6)
Repayment of shareholder lc (88.2) -
Repayment of convertible no (976.9) -
2,131.; 2,478.¢
Investing Activities
Additions to property and equipmi (22.7) (7.7
Restricted cash (note 277.2 (277.2)
254.k (284.9)
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent 797 . 457.%
Effect of Foreign Exchange on Cash and Cash Equivehts 171.¢ (232.5)
Cash and Cash Equivalent:
Beginning of Yeal 556.( 331.(
End of Year 1524¢ $ 556.(

See accompanying notes



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

1.

Basis of Presentatior

The Company prepares its financial statements @ordance with accounting principles generally ateg¢pn the United States. T
basis of accounting involves the application ofraataccounting and consequently, revenues and gaenrecognized when earned,
expenses and losses are recognized when inci

The consolidated financial statements include #t@ants of the Company and its subsidiary compai@esconsolidation, all inter-
entity transactions and balances have been eliedr

The financial statements are expressed in U.Ssfi

Management has performed an evaluation of the Compactivities through the date and time these firrstatements were isst
and concluded that there are no additional sigaii@vents requiring recognition or disclost

Nature of Business

The Company specializes in the development of pheemtical products in -operation with various pharmaceutical companies
Company has developed three proprietary technaogyiel is currently utilizing these to develop 18durcts, 7 of which are partne
and 5 of which are in the clinical development sti

The Company’s first product, a prenatal multivitarsupplement marketed as Gesticane@e USA, was commercialized in Nover
2008.

A New Drug Application (“NDA”) for the Company’s send product, its antidepressant C3B, has been submitted to the U.S. |
and Drug Administration. C-300 is a novel, high strength of Bupropion HCI, &utive ingredient in Wellbutrin X®.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Fair Value Measurements

SFAS No.157 as codified in FASB ASC 8"Fair Value Measurement and Disclosi” is effective for financial assets and liabilitien
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, fanchonfinancial assets and liabilities in fiscal yeargibaing after November 1
2008. The Company adopted ASC 820 for financiadtasand liabilities in the first quarter of fis@008 with no material impact to 1

consolidated financial statements. The Company tedopSC 820 for nofinancial assets and liabilities in the first qearof fiscal 200
with no material impact to the consolidated finahstatements
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

3.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards (Cor’d)
Subsequent Event:

FASB ASC 855, "Subsequent Events", which estaldigtrénciples and requirements for subsequent evsreg$fective for interim ¢
annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 200@ statement details the period after the balasteet date during which
Company should evaluate events or transactionsntlagt occur for potential recognition or disclosimethe financial statements, -
circumstances under which the Company should rézegvents or transactions occurring after thertwaasheet date in its financ
statements and the required disclosures for suehtevThe Company adopted ASC 855 for the firsetfor its interim consolidat:
financial statements for the nine months endededeiper 30, 2009. Since ASC 855 at most requirediaddl disclosures, the adopt
of FASB ASC 855 did not have a material impacttsrconsolidated financial statemer

FASB Codification

On July 1, 2009, the FASB released the final versibits new Accounting Standards Codification (tl@odification”) as the singl
authoritative source for U.S. generally acceptembanting principle (“US GAAP”)The Codification replaces all previous U.S. G/
accounting standards as described in SFAS 168FA$8B Accounting Standards Codification and the dfiehy of Generally Accept
Accounting Principles FAS 168. The Codification legs all previous U.S. GAAP accounting standavdlsile not intended to chan
U.S. GAAP, the Codification significantly changéeg tway in which the accounting literature is orgedi It is structured by account
topic to help accountants and auditors more quitkéntify the guidance that applies to a speciticaunting issue. The Company
applied the Codification for the first time for itaterim financial statements for the nine montimglieg September 30, 2009. ~
adoption of the Codification did not have an effestthe Companyg financial position and results of operations. ldeer, because t
Codification completely replaces existing standardwill affect the way U.S. GAAP is referenced the Company in its consolida
financial statements and accounting polic

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognitior

The Company recognizes revenue from research arelaggnent contracts as the contracted servicepeafermed or when milestor
are achieved, in accordance with the terms of geziic agreements and when collection of the paynie reasonably assured.
addition, the performance criteria for the achiegatof milestones are met if substantive effort wexpuired to achieve the milestt

and the amount of the milestone payment appeasemahly commensurate with the effort expended. Artereceived in advance
the recognition criteria being met, if any, arelimed in deferred incom:
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)

The Company has license agreements that specifycéingin royalties are earned by the Company tess# licensed products in
licensed territories. Licensees usually reportsaled royalty information in the 45 days after ¢éimel of the quarter in which the actiy
takes place and typically do not provide the Corypaith forward estimates or curreqtarter information. Because the Company i
able to reasonably estimate the amount of royaéiesied during the period in which these licensedtgally ship products, roya
revenue is not recognized until the royalties aported to the Company and the collection of tmegelties is reasonably assur

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith US GAAP requires management to make es@mand assumptions t
affect the reported amounts of assets and liaslitdlisclosure of contingent assets and liabilgiethe date of the financial stateme
and the reported amounts of revenues and expemnsigy dhe reporting period. The financial staterseimclude estimates based
currently available information and managementtigjuent as to the outcome of future conditions aindumstances. Significa
estimates in these financial statements includeatioavance for doubtful accounts, useful lives amghairment of londived asset:
stockbased compensation costs, determination of thevédire of the warrants issued with the convertitidées, the investments
credits receivable and the resulting impact onahecation of the proceeds between the convertiloes, the beneficial convers
feature and the warran

Changes in the status of certain facts or circuntgt® could result in material changes to the estisnased in the preparation of
financial statements and actual results could dfffam the estimates and assumptic

Sales Tax

A company should disclose the amount of those téxatsis recognized on a gross basis in interim amalal financial statements
each period for which an income statement is pteseif those amounts are significant. While the ams are not material, t
Compan'’s policy is to present such taxes on a net bagdteiconsolidated statements of operations and &hmepsive loss

Financial Instruments

The Company estimates the fair value of its finahiristruments based on current interest rateskehaalue and pricing of financ
instruments with comparable terms. Unless othenwidiated, the carrying value of these finanamstiuments approximates their
value.

Cash and Cash Equivalent:

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of castand &nd a term deposit with an original maturittedaf less than three months 1
are stated at cost, which approximates fair ve



IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)

Accounts Receivable

The Company accounts for trade receivables atr@ignvoice amount less an estimate made for dali#teivables based on a rev
of all outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Man@ent determines the allowance for doubtful actoby regularly evaluatir
individual customer receivables and consideringustamer's financial condition, credit history angrent economic conditions. T
Company writes off trade receivables when they deemed uncollectible. The Company records recovesfetrade receivabl
previously writteneff when they receive them. Management considexsttie allowance for doubtful accounts of approxeha$109.!
thousand is necessary in order to adequately @ymsure to loss in its December 31, 2009 accaoentsivable (200 $Nil).
Investment Tax Credits

Investment tax credits relating to qualifying exgitares are recognized in the accounts at the &twehich the related expenditures
incurred and there is reasonable assurance of téalization. Management has made estimates ananasiens in determining tl
expenditures eligible for investment tax crediaimoled.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Roogidor depreciation are based on their estimatsdul lives using the methods
follows:

On the declining balance meth-
Laboratory and office equipme 20%
Computer equipme 30%
On the straigl-line methoc-

Leasehold improvemer over the lease ter

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the adisgtosed of and the related accumulated depregiatie removed from the accot
and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Exjtenes for repair and maintenance are expenseucasred.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

LongHived assets held and used by the Company arewedidor possible impairment whenever events or glarin circumstanc
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may notdwmeverable. Recoverability of assets to be held ased is measured b
comparison of the carrying amount of the assethacestimated undiscounted cash flows expecte& eberated by the asset. If <
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairtodrme recognized is measured by the amount bgtwthie carrying amount of t
asset exceeds the fair value thereof.
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)
Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's reporting currency is the UnitedeStabllar. The Canadian dollar is the functionatency of the Company's Canac
operations, which is translated to the United Stakellar using the current rate method. Under téghod, accounts are translate
follows:

Assets and liabilities - at exchange rates in éfi¢the balance sheet date;

Revenue and expenses - at average exchange ravadlipg during the year.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currencysiation are included in other comprehensive income.
Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeFASB ASC 740 "Income Taxes". Deferred taxes@ovided on the liabili
method whereby deferred tax assets are recognaredefiuctible temporary differences, and defereedliabilities are recognized 1
taxable temporary differences. Temporary differsnaes the differences between the reported amatfistssets and liabilities and tt
tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced byatieal allowance when, in the opinion of managemi¢ig more likely than not th
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets bélrealized. Deferred tax assets and liabilitresaaljusted for the effects of change
tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax bengfitaccordance with FASB ASC 740 “Income TaxeASC 740 prescribes
recognition threshold that a tax position is regdito meet before being recognized in the finarat@tlements and provides guidanc
detecognition, measurement, classification, inteeest penalties, accounting in interim periods, disgie and transition issues. A
740 contains a twstep approach to recognizing and measuring unoetdai positions. The first step is to evaluate téreposition fo
recognition by determining if the weight of availlevidence indicates that it is more likely thant that the position will be sustair
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authoritgluding resolution of related appeals or litigatjgrocesses, if any. The second sti
to measure the tax benefit as the largest amoantgimore than 50% likely of being realized upttimate settlement.

Additionally, ASC 740 requires the Company to aecinterest and related penalties, if applicablealbrax positions for which resen
have been established consistent with jurisdictidaa laws. The Company elected to classify intesd penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax prowisi
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)
Share-Based Payment:

The Company accounts for share-based paymentsptogees in accordance with the provisions of FASBCA718 "Compensatier
Stock Compensation” and accordingly recognizedsirfinancial statements share-based payments atféirevalue. Inaddition, th
Company will recognize in the financial statemeartsexpense based on the grant date fair valueock siptions granted to employe
The expense will be recognized on a stralgtg-basis over the vesting period and the offsgttiredit will be recorded in additiol
paid-in capital. Upon exercise of options, the ddeation paid together with the amount previousigorded as additional paid-
capital will be recognized as capital stock. Thempany estimates its forfeiture rate in order toedwine its compensation expe
arising from stoc-based awards. The Company uses the I-Scholes option pricing model to determine the ¥alue of the options

The Company measures compensation expense foortemployee stock-based compensation under ASC5605Accounting fo
Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other Thaplyees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Sellj, Goods or Services". The 1
value of the option issued is used to measureréimsaction, as this is more reliable than thevaiue of the services received. The
value is measured at the value of the Compmogimmon stock on the date that the commitmenptdoiormance by the counterparty
been reached or the counterpastperformance is complete. The fair value of theitggnstrument is charged directly to compens:
expense and additional paid-in capital. For comistogk issuances to namployees that are fully vested and are for fupengods, th
Company classifies these issuances as prepaid sepamd expenses the prepaid expenses over theesgeviod. At no time has t
Company issued common stock for a period that elseae yeal

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on thghtesi average number of shares outstanding duhiagyear. Any antidilutiv
instruments are excluded from the calculation bftdd loss per shar

Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 applies to all assets and liabilities tira&t being measured and reported on a fair valus.lSC 820 requires new disclos
that establishes a framework for measuring faiueain US GAAP, and expands disclosure about faluevaneasurements. T
statement enables the reader of the financial mtates to assess the inputs used to develop thoasumeenents by establishin
hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability e information used to determine fair valuese Htatement requires that assets
liabilities carried at fair value be classified afidclosed in one of the following three categor

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for idehtisaets or liabilities
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservablesrbat are corroborated by market d
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated biketaata
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)

In determining the appropriate levels, the Compaerforms a detailed analysis of the assets anditied that are subject to ASC 8.
At each reporting period, all assets and liabdgitier which the fair value measurement is basedignificant unobservable inputs
classified as Level 3. There are no assets oflitisbimeasured at fair value as at December 3092

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value represents manager’'s best estimates based on a range of methodolag@gsassumptions. The carrying valut
receivables and payables arising in the ordinarysm of business and the investment tax crediwivaole and the convertible nc
approximate fair value because of the relativelyrsperiod of time between their origination anghested realization. The loan paya
shareholder is presumed to have a fair value meddwyr the cash proceeds exchanged at issu

The convertible notes use significant unobservatgats and thus are shown as Level 3 hierarchysitdrhe fair value of the convertil
notes is calculated by discounting the stream uiréupayments of interest and principal at the giteng market rate for a simil
liability that does not have an associated equitygonent. Results of discounted cash flow calautatimay be adjusted, as appropr
to reflect other market conditions or the perceiebdnges in credit risk of the borrower. As at Deber 31, 2009, the fair value of
convertible notes, excluding unamortized discowras $Nil (200- $1,099.3).

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In June 2009, the FASB issued FAS 166, "Accountorglransfers of Financial Assets an amendmentASB Statement No. 140",
codified in FASB ASC 860 “Transfer and servicingthich amends the derecognition guidance in FASBeStant No. 140 ar
eliminates the exemption from consolidation for lfyeg special- purpose entities. This statement is effective foaricial ass:
transfers occurring after the beginning of an gistifirst fiscal year that begins after November 2809. The adoption of ASC 860 is
expected to have a material effect on the Com’s financial position or results of operatio

In June 2009, the FASB issued FAS 167, "Amendméeots-ASB Interpretation No. 46(R)", as codified ilA$B ASC 81!
“Consolidation”, which amends the consolidation guidance applicédbleariable interest entities. The amendments sighificantly
affect the overall consolidation analysis under BASterpretation No. 46(R). This statement is efferas of the beginning of the fi
fiscal year that begins after November 15, 200% @doption of ASC 810 is not expected to have a&nateffect on the Compary’
financial position or results of operatiol
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. -13, “Revenue Recognition (Topic 6—Multiple-Deliverable Revent
Arrangements a consensus of the FASB Emerging $s$ask Force” (“ASU 2009-13"). ASU 2008 provides amendments to
criteria in ASC 605-25 “Multiple-Element Arrangentishfor separating consideration in multipdeliverable arrangements. As a re
of those amendments, multipieliverable arrangements will be separated in noooaimstances than under existing U.S. GAAP. ,
200943: 1) establishes a selling price hierarchy faedwrining the selling price of a deliverable, 2iyrehates the residual method
allocation and requires that arrangement considerdie allocated at the inception of the arrangenterall deliverables using t
relative selling price method, 3) requires thatador determine its best estimate of selling pirice manner that is consistent with
used to determine the price to sell the deliverallea standalone basis, 4) significantly expanésdisclosures related to a vendor’
multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements. ASU 20®9is effective prospectively for revenue arranget®@ntered into or materia
modified in fiscal years beginning on or after J&%e 2010. The Company is currently evaluatingitigact of adopting ASU 20(-13.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. -14, “Software (Topic 98—Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Soft
Elements a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issusk Farce” (“ASU 2009-14"). ASU 20024 changes the accounting model
revenue arrangements that include both tangibldymts and software elements and provides additignialance on how to determ
which software, if any, relating to tangible protumuld be excluded from the scope of the softwawenue guidance. In addition, A
200914 provides guidance on how a vendor should akoeatangement consideration to deliverables inreangement that includ
both tangible products and software. ASU 20@9is effective prospectively for revenue arranget®ieentered into or materia
modified in fiscal years beginning on or after JU% 2010. The adoption of ASU 2004-is not expected to have a material effe
the Compan’'s financial position or results of operatio

In October, 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 209*ASU 2009-15"), “Accounting for Owrghare Lending Arrangements
Contemplation of Convertible Debt Issuance or Offieancing”. This update amends FASB ASC 470, “Delrtd provides guidan
for accounting and reporting for ovaiare lending arrangements issued in contemplafi@anconvertible debt issuance. At the dal
issuance, a share-lending arrangement enteredmémn entitys own shares should be measured at fair valuecordance with FAS
ASC 820, “Fair value measurement and disclosurel’ mtognized as an issuance cost, with an offsetdtbtional paidn capital
Loaned shares are excluded from basic and dilutediregs per share unless default of the skemding arrangement occurs. -
amendments also require several disclosures imgjualidescription and the terms of the arrangemmehtlze reason for entering into
arrangement. The effective dates of the amendnsertslependent upon the date the shemding arrangement was entered into
include retrospective application for arrangementtstanding as of the beginning of fiscal yearsiti@gg on or after December :
2009. The adoption of ASU 2009-15 is not expectechave a material effect on the Companginancial position or results
operations
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cor’d)

In December 2009, the FASB issued Update No. -16 (“ASU 200¢1€"), “Accounting for Transfers of Financial Ass” which is al
amendment of FASB ASC 860, “Transfers and Servi€ifidpis update will require more information about tin@nsfer of financi:
assets. More specifically, ASU 2009-16 eliminates ¢concept of a “special purpose entitsfianges the requirements for derecogn
financial assets, and enhances the informationrteghdo users of financial statements. This updadtebe effective for fiscal yea
beginning on or after November 15, 2009. Early @pgibn is not permitted. The adoption of ASU 2Q®is not expected to hav:
material effect on the Compé’s financial position or results of operatio

Collaborative Agreements

On April 7, 2008, the Company ratified with CaryaPmaceuticals, a pharmaceutical development compnygreement to joint
develop and commercialize an oral antidepressainigusitelGenxs proprietary oral delivery technology. Under tleents of th
agreement, IntelGenx will provide funding and depehent support for the product and will be entitlegrofit sharing. The Compa
accounts for this transaction as a collaborativeeement as defined as FASB ASC 808 “Collaborativea#gements”.Per thi
Agreement, $2.0 million of the Compasytash and cash equivalents was initially resttiéte the funding of this venture. This c
was taken from the proceeds of the private placémmémMarch 27, 2008 and, in accordance with thejgmtoplan, had been fu
expensed as of December 31, 2009. Development sgparxceeding $2.0 million are being shared eqballthe Company and Cz
Pharmaceuticals in accordance to the Agreen

As of December 31, 2009, the Company has expengptbxamately $XX on the project. Included withinete disbursements
approximately $222.2 thousand paid to Cary Pharotaads in 2008 in respect of management fees apdoaimately $7.1 thousa
paid to Cary Pharmaceuticals during 2009 in respédtability insurance. All expenses incurred witespect to the collaborati
agreement were expensed in the statement of opesaaind were classified as research and develop®rpanses and professional f
In the year ended December 31, 2009 the Compamveztapproximately $81.1 thousand from Cary Phaemgcals in respect of th
share of disbursements exceeding the Con’s initial investment of $2.0 millior
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

6. Property and Equipment

2009 2008
In US$ thousands Accumulatec Net Carrying Net Carrying
Cost Depreciatior Amount Amount
Laboratory and office equipme $ 294+ % 158.2 $ 136.C $ 128.]
Computer equipmet 33.7 19.7 14.C 11k
Leasehold improvemen 59.4 51.C 8.4 17.5
$ 387t $ 229.1 $ 158.« $ 157.1

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Included in accounts payable and accrued liakdlitleapproximately $12.1 thousand (200813.4 thousand) payable to sharehol
who are also officers of the Compa

8. Loan Payable, Shareholdel

Pursuant to a board of direct’ resolution dated November 5, 2009, the loan payablereholder, was repaid on December 4, 200¢
loan payable, shareholder, who is also an offiéehe Company, was unsecured and bore interestoapd annum. Interest incur
during the year amounted to approximately $4.9$had (200¢- $5.6 thousand) which is measured at the exchangersn

9. Convertible Notes

On May 22, 2007 the Company entered into convertitite agreements with certain institutional anttexdited investors for amou
totaling $1.5 million. The convertible notes bonéerest at the rate of 8% per annum and were répmpa September 22, 2009. Inte
was payable quarterly and payments commenced griJa007. The notes were convertible into commtooksof the Company, at t
option of the holders, at a rate of $0.70 per shEHne Company also issued to the holders 2,142%8%k purchase warrants exercis.
at $1.02 per share before May 22, 2C
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IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

9.

Convertible Notes (Con’d)

The Company recognized the value of the embeddeefisal conversion feature of $490.1 thousanddait@nal paid in capital and
equivalent discount which was expensed over tha @ the convertible notes. In addition, in accoma with ASC 470 Debt witt
Conversion and Other Optionsthe Company allocated the proceeds of issuanceeketwthe convertible notes and the detacl
warrants based on their relative fair value. Acomty, the Company recognized the fair value of tletachable warrants of $49
thousand as additional paid in capital and an edeint discount against the convertible notes. Tifferdnce between the face amour
the convertible notes and their carrying value esa®rtized over the life of the convertible noteseBlack Scholes Model was use
calculate the fair value of the warrants. The ulyitey assumptions included in the Bli-Scholes Model were as follow

Expected volatility 64%
Contractual life 5 years
Risk-free interest rat 4.39%
Dividend yield Nil

Substantially all of the assets of the Company vpteeged as security of the convertible noteshinytear ended December 31, 2!
$68.0 thousand of interest was paid (2008 - $18®8sand), and $523.9 thousand of interest wagrt(2008 - $465.9 thousand).

In the year ended December 31, 2009, $253.9 thdu22®8 -$165.0 thousand) of the outstanding convertiblesiaere converted ir
705,158 common shares (2008 - $235.7 thousandjai@eonvertible note holders took advantage ohetone option that arose a
result of our third quarter 2009 Special Warranfe@ng (note 12) to convert part of the convertibletes at CDN$0.40 (approximat
US$0.35) per share as opposed to the convertilike agreement rate of $0.70 per share. This cororersisulted in a debt convers
expense of $174.9 thousand, which was expenséx ithird quarter of 2009. This transaction resuiteg@in aggregate increase of $4.
thousand to additional paid-in capital.

On September 22, 2009 the Company repaid the balainthe convertible notes outstanding of $976di#and and, consequently,
security against the assets of the Company waasede




IntelGenx Technologies Corp

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2009 and 2008
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

10.

11.

Commitments and Contingency
a) Commitments

The Company entered into an agreement to leaseiggsmp to August 2009 and subsequently extendedetim of the lease ur
August 2010. The future minimum lease paymentd arfiiry of the extended lease period are approteéipa17.3 thousanc

On October 1, 2009, the Company signed two neweageats with Little Gem Life Science Partners anct@&peak Inc. for invest
relation services in the U.S.A and in Canada, respEy. As part of the terms of these agreemehis Company is required to pay fc
period of one year $4.5 thousand a month to Litem Life Science Partners and CDN$5.0 thousand 48Shousand) a month
Sector Speak In(

b) Contingency

On August 18, 2009, the Company learned that CheyrRaceuticals was named in a lawsuit filed by Bibw the U.S. District Cou
for the District of Delaware for patent infringentemder the provisions of the Drug Price Compatittmd Patent Term Restoration
of 1984, known as the "Hatch-Waxman Act," with mapto Biovail's U.S. Patent No. 6,096,341. Purst@arhe HatchA/axman Acl
the filing of the patent infringement lawsuit agati€ary Pharmaceuticals by Biovail instituted atomatic stay of any FDA approval
the NDA until the earlier of a judgment or Janu@n2012. The Biovail lawsuit seeks to prevent thenafacture or sale of the prod
during the life of the Biovail patent. Although tli@ompany is not a party to the action, any decisionld have an effect on f
Companys potential revenues relating to the product. Gdrgrmaceuticals and the Company believe that theupt does not infring
Biovail's patent and will assert their rights. Untlee terms of the collaborative agreement the Gomwpnay have to bear part, or in
case of an unfavorable decision by the courts;adts related to defending the lawsuit. At thispai time, it is not feasible to estim
such costs

Capital Stock

200¢ 200¢
Authorized-
100,000,000 common shares of $0.00001 par \
20,000,000 preferred shares of $0.00001 par \
Issuec-
33,081,271 (December 31, 20- 20,850,002) common shar $ 331 % 20¢
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11.

Capital Stock (Cont'd)

On March 27, 2008, as part of a private placemitet,Company issued 4,001,000 units for gross podsceé $2,800,700. Each u
consists of one common share of the Company and@menon share purchase warrant. Each warrantemntite holder to purchase
common share at an exercise price of $1.02 per amshare and expires 24 months after the dateso&ige. Proceeds were alloci
between the common shares and the warrants basedenrelative fair value. The common shares wereorded at a value
$2,127,960 excluding transaction costs. (See rdferlthe portion allocated to the warran

The Company paid an agent a cash commission iartteaint of $196,000, which is equal to 7% of thesgnoroceeds of the offering ¢
issued an agent option entitling the agent to aeg820,080 units (consisting of one common shackare common share purch
warrant) at $0.70 per unit, which expire 24 mordfier the date of issuance. Each common share gseolarrant included in the v
entitles the holder to purchase one common shaga akercise price of $1.02 per common share apile=x24 months after the date
issuance of the uni

In addition, the Company paid approximately $256,00cash consideration for other transaction casiisthe above transaction co
have been reflected as a reduction of the commarestand the warrants based on their relativevédires.

Pursuant to the terms of the private placementCihimpany was obliged to use its best efforts thi@)e the common shares listec
the TSX Venture Exchange, and (ii) prepare andWith, and have declared effective, by the U.SuBges and Exchange Commissi
a resale registration statement in respect of dmnoon shares and the warrants issued to subsciisengell as those issuable u
exercise of the agents warrants, all prior to 4 tieafter March 27, 2008. All of these provisionsrgvsatisfied within the required ti
limits during the second quarter of 20!

On April 22, 2008, 100,000 warrants were exercik®d100,000 common shares having a par value ofo$Tash consideration
$41,000, resulting in an increase in additionatl-in capital of $40,99¢

On April 22, 2008, the Company entered into agregmt amend the andidution terms of the convertible notes. As considien fo
entering into this amendment, the Company agreddstge to the holders of the convertible notes ggregate of 159,456 fully pe
common shares having a par value of $2 in aggregzdelting in an increase in additional -in capital of $111,617%

On July 13, 2009, as part of a private placemdrd, Gompany issued 10,476,000 special warrants rfassgproceeds of $3,63
thousand. Each special warrant consists of one aomshare and one common share purchase warrafit.vizzacant entitles the holc
to purchase one common share at an exercise grig2 &0 per common share and expires 36 monthsthiéedate of issuance. Proce
were allocated between the common shares and tirant& based on their relative fair value. The camrshares were recorded i
value of $2,337.9 thousand. (See note 12 for thégmoallocated to the warrant:
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11.

Capital Stock (Cont'd)

The Company paid agents a cash commission in treumtof $290.5 thousand, which is equal to 8% ef gnoss proceeds of 1
offering, issued the agents 419,040 common shdre Company which is equal to 4% of the numbespEcial warrants issued in
offering and issued agentsptions entitling the agents to acquire 838,08@suftionsisting of one common share and one cominai
purchase warrant) at an exercise price of $0.8Qupiér which expire 36 months after the date ofizssee. Each warrant included in
agents’options entitles the holder to purchase one comshane at an exercise price of $0.80 per commoresirad expires 36 mon
after the date of issuance of the u

In addition, the Company paid approximately $37thdusand in cash consideration for other transactiasts. All of the abo
transaction costs have been reflected as a reductithe common shares and the warrants baseceonétative fair values

On July 22, 2009, as part of a private placemdet,Gompany issued 350,000 units to investors fosgproceeds of $127.5 thous:
Each unit consists of one common share and one oonshare purchase warrant. Each warrant entitieshtiider to purchase c
common share at an exercise price of $0.80 per amshare and expires 36 months after the dateso&ige. Proceeds were alloci
between the common shares and the warrants bastxiomelative fair values. The common shares weoerded at a value of $8
thousand. (See note 12 for the portion allocatatie¢avarrants.

In addition, the Company paid approximately $9.8usdand in cash consideration for other transaaasts, which have been reflec
as a reduction of the common shares and the warbased on their relative fair valu

On September 3, 2009, as part of a private placentie® Company issued 250,000 units to investorsgfoss proceeds of $9.
thousand. Each unit consists of one common shat®a@& common share purchase warrant. Each wamétieg the holder to purche
one common share at an exercise price of $0.8@¢@amon share and expires 36 months after the dasswance. Proceeds w
allocated between the common shares and the waibased on their relative fair value. The commarehwere recorded at a valu
$59.2 thousand. (See note 12 for the portion alatto the warrants

In addition, the Company paid approximately $7 @udand in cash consideration for other transaagsts, which have been reflec
as a reduction of the common shares and the warbased on their relative fair valu

In the year ended December 31, 2009, 31,071(-191,500) stock options were exercised for 31,0ftiraon shares having a par ve
of $Nil in aggregate, for cash consideration of 82housand, resulting in an increase in additigadd-in capital of $21.8 thousan
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12.

Additional Paid-In Capital
Stock Options

In November 2006, the Company adopted the 2006kStaentive Plan ("Plan") for the purpose of isguboth Incentive Options a
Nonqualified Options to officers, employees, diogstand eligible consultants of the Company. Altofal,600,749 shares of comrmr
stock were reserved for issuance under this plgmio® may be granted under the Plan on terms tupdices as determined by
Board of Directors except that the options canmogianted at less than 100%, of the fair markeatevaf the common stock on the ¢
of the grant. Each option will be exercisable after period or periods specified in the option agrent, but no option may be exerc
after the expiration of 10 years from the date raingy All options granted to individuals other thaon- employee directors will have
total vesting period of 24 months from the datey@nt, with one quarter of the total options grdntesting and becoming exercise
every six months. Options granted to -employees will vest and become 100% fully exerdsahmediately upon gran

At the Annual General Meeting on September 8, 20@8shareholders of the Company approved to anten8006 Stock Option Pl
to increase the number of shares available foaissel under the Plan from 1,600,749 to 2,074,000086 of the Companyg’issued ar
outstanding common shares as of July 28, 2

A modification was made to the 2006 Stock OpticanPIThe life of the options was reduced from 10yéa5 years to comply with t
regulations of the TSX-V. Accordingly, because trantdate fair value of the modified options was lesantlthe fair value of tt
original options measured immediately before thalifimation, no incremental shalised compensation expense resulted fror
modification.

On March 27, 2008, the Company issued 320,080 ggeptions exercisable into one common share and toic& purchase warrant |
agents’option. The exercise price of the option and thelstpurchase warrant are $0.70 and $1.02 respbctivel they expire ¢
March 27, 2010. As at December 31, 2008, no agemit®ons had been exercised. The ageoptions were issued as part of
transaction costs in connection with the privascpment described in note 12. The ageoptions were accounted for at their fair ve
as determined by the Ble-Scholes valuation model, of $95.0 thousand, ugiegassumptions belo

Expected volatility 7%
Expected life 2 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.75%
Dividend yield Nil

On May 22, 2008, the Company granted 51,176 stqtioms to two noremployee directors to purchase common shares. fbok
options are exercisable at $0.85 per share and hateem of 5 years with immediate vesting provisiofihe stock options we
accounted for at their fair value, as determinedthy BlackScholes valuation model, of $21.3 thousand, ushmg following
assumptions:

Expected volatility 76%

Expected life 2.5 years

Risk-free interest rat 2.70%

Dividend yield Nil
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12.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On May 29, 2008, 400,000 stock options were grataeductus Capital as compensation for investaatieh services. The option gr.
was subject to shareholder approval to increasetingber of shares to be issued under the stockroptan, which was subsequel
given at the Annual General Meeting, held on Septm8, 2008. The exercise price of the options $f&asThe options vested ba
upon a combination of the achievement of certairfopmance conditions and the passage of time. ADetember 31, 20C
performance conditions had been met for the fig€t,@00 options tranche. The first tranche of th@,@00 stock options were accour
for at its fair value, as determined by the B-Scholes valuation model, of $86.2 thousand, udieddllowing assumption:

Expected volatility 75%
Expected life 2.69 year:
Risk-free interest rat 2.81%
Dividend yield Nil

As a result of the May 29, 2008 grant, the Compaeprded a compensation expense of $36.0 thousahe iyear ended December
2009 and an expense of $50.4 thousand in the yel@deDecember 31, 2008 for the first tranche of @00 options. As at December
2008, it was not probable that the performance itiomd for the second tranche of 200,000 stockanstiwould be achieved and as ¢
no compensation expense was recognized.

The contract with Auctus Capital was terminatechveitfect on May 29, 2009. No options related todbetract with Auctus Capital h
been exercised and all non-exercised options veefeitf upon contract termination.

On September 8, 2008, the Company granted 75,@@® siptions to a noemployee director to purchase common shares. Tuok
options are exercisable at $0.85 per share and hategm of 5 years with immediate vesting provisiofihe stock options we
accounted for at their fair value, as determinedtlhy BlackScholes valuation model, of $30.4 thousand, ushmg followinc
assumptions:

Expected volatility 78%
Expected life 2.5 years
Risk-free interest rat 2.40%
Dividend yield Nil

On September 8, 2008, the Company granted 100,0@8& sptions to an officer to purchase common shafée stock options ¢
exercisable at $0.85 per share, have a term ofEsyend vest in equal increments over two yea25%t every six months. The st
options were accounted for at their fair value,dasermined by the Blac&eholes valuation model, of $39.7 thousand, ushe
following assumptions:

Expected volatility 76%

Expected life 3.1 years

Risk-free interest rat 2.49%

Dividend yield Nil
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12.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On March 11, 2009 the Company granted 25,000 sttlons to an employee to purchase common shates.sfock options a
exercisable at $0.31 per share and vest over 2 w&5% every six months. The stock options weceunted for at their fair value,
determined by the Bla-Scholes valuation model, of $4.4 thousand, usiegdlowing assumption:

Expected volatility 100%
Expected life 3.1 years
Risk-free interest rat 2.49%
Dividend yield Nil

On July 13, 2009 the Company issued 838,080 ageptisins exercisable into one common share at arciseeprice of $0.80 per shi
option, which expire on July 13, 2012. The agemptions were issued as part of the transactistsda connection with the privi
placement described in note 6. The agent’s optiegre accounted for at their fair value, as deteehiby the Blackscholes valuatic
model, of $160.7 thousand, using the assumptioloswbe

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.41%
Dividend yield Nil

On October 3, 2009 the Company granted 50,000 siptikns to Little Gem Life Science Partners as gensation for investor relati
services. The stock options are exercisable intongon shares at an exercise price of $0.55 per sipdi@n, which expire on Octobet
2012. The stock options vest 50% on the first, 8% on the second, anniversary of the agreemesetsidtk options were accoun
for at their fair value, as determined by the Bl&tholes valuation model, of $16.7 thousand, udiegassumptions below:

Expected volatility 132%
Expected life 1.75 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.71%
Dividend yield Nil

On November 24, 2009, the Company granted 25,08k siptions to each of a director and to an offtoepurchase common sha
The stock options are exercisable at $0.61 peeshanve a term of 5 years and vest in equal inanesy@ver two years at 25% every
months. The stock options were accounted for at faie value, as determined by the BlaSkholes valuation model, of $21.0 thous
using the following assumptions:

Expected volatility 113%

Expected life 3.1 years

Risk-free interest rat 1.22%

Dividend yield Nil
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12.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On November 24, 2009, the Company granted 75,0k siptions to three n-employee directors to purchase common shares
stock options are exercisable at $0.61 per shatehame a term of 5 years with immediate vesting/igions. The stock options w«
accounted for at their fair value, as determinedtlhy BlackScholes valuation model, of $29.3 thousand, ushmgy followinc
assumptions

Expected volatility 123%
Expected life 2.5 years
Risk-free interest rat 0.98%
Dividend yield Nil

Information with respect to stock option activity 2008 and 2009 is as follows:

Weighted averag:

Number of options exercise prict

$

Outstandin¢— January 1, 200 1,376,50! 0.5
Granted 626,17t 0.9t
Forfeited (50, 000 (0.9%)
Expired (62,500 (2.15)
Exercisec (191,500 (0.46)
Outstandin— December 31, 200 1,698,67! 0.7
Granted 200,00( 0.5¢
Forfeited (200, 00¢1) (2.00
Expired (319,51) (0.99)
Exercisec (31,07) (0.70
Outstandin— December 31, 200 1,348,08! 0.5€
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12.

Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Details of stock options outstanding as at Decer8theR009 are as follow

Outstanding options Exercisable options
Weighted Weighted
Weighted average average
average
Exercise Number of remaining exercise Aggregate  Number of exercise Aggregate
prices options contractual life price intrinsic options price intrinsic
$ (years) $ value $ $ value $
0.41 800,00( 1.8¢ 0.41 800,00( 0.41
0.31-0.61 200,00( 3.9¢ 0.5¢€ 131,25( 0.57
0.7¢-0.85 240,58t 3.6(C 0.8: 190,58t 0.82
1.15 107,50( 2.5¢ 1.1¢ 107,50( 1.1%
1,348,08: 2.5¢ 0.5¢€ 180,50( 1,229,33 0.5¢€ 174,18¢

Stock-based compensation expense recognized inig@@gards to the stock options was $104.4 thali$2008 -$161.0 thousand).
of December 31, 2009, total unrecognized compeamsakpense related to unvested stock options was8 $4ousand (2008 $83.-
thousand). This amount is expected to be recograsemh expense over a period of two years. A changentrol of the Company d
to acquisition would cause the vesting of thesekstiptions to accelerate and would result in thi®ant being charged to stoblase:
compensation expense.

Warrants

On March 19, 2008, the Company restated the exemmice of the warrants initially issued with respéo the convertible not
transaction on May 22, 2007 from $1.02 to $0.80s Thodification was treated as an exchange of tlggnal warrant for a new warre
in accordance to FASB ASC 505-50 “Equity-Based Payt® to NonEmployees. This resulted in an increase in faiu@adf th
warrants of $92.6 thousand. This increase was dedoas an additional compensation expense andesponding increase in additio
paid-up capital.

On March 27, 2008, the Company issued 4,001,00tk giarchase warrants exercisable into common star§4.02 per share whi
expire on March 27, 2010. The stock purchase wegnaare issued in connection with a private plaggimEhe stock purchase warre
were valued at $672.7 thousand, before transactiets, based on their relative fair value, as ddtexd by the Blackscholes valuatic
model using the assumptions below:
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12.  Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

Expected volatility 7%
Expected life 2 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.75%
Dividend yield Nil

As at March 31, 2008, 5,186 shares of common simre issued as a result of the cashless exercit@,688 warrants with an exerc
price of $0.41 and a fair value of $0.80. On Agél, 2008, $100.0 thousand warrants were exercetidn,000 common shares hay
a par value of $1 for cash consideration of $44dlisand, resulting in an increase in additionad{iaicapital of $41.0.

On July 13, 2009 the Company issued 10,476,00k gtacchase warrants exercisable into common shatr&9.80 per share whi
expire on July 13, 2012. The stock purchase wasramtre issued in connection with the July 13, 2pfiate placement describec
note 11. The stock purchase warrants were valu&d ,@93.5 thousand based on their relative fainesahs determined by the Black-
Scholes valuation model using the assumptions below

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.41%
Dividend yield Nil

On July 22, 2009 the Company issued 350,000 staokhpse warrants exercisable into common shar$8.80 per share which exg
on July 22, 2012. The stock purchase warrants vgsteed in connection with the July 22, 2009 priyaleeement described in note
The stock purchase warrants were valued at $4@dst#nd based on their relative fair value, as deterd by the BlackSchole
valuation model using the assumptions below:

Expected volatility 117%

Expected life 3 years

Risk-free interest rat 1.50%

Dividend yield Nil
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12.  Additional Paid-In Capital (Cont’d)

On September 3, 2009 the Company issued 250,008 ptochase warrants exercisable into common stwr$6.80 per share whi
expire on September 3, 2012. The stock purchaseamtarwere issued in connection with the Septer8he&009 private placeme
described in note 11. The stock purchase warraate walued at $33.7 thousand based on their relédiv value, as determined by
Black-Scholes valuation model using the assumptions be

Expected volatility 117%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free interest rat 1.42%
Dividend yield Nil

As at December 31, 2009, no additional stock pigetvearrants had been exercised.

Information with respect to warrant activity for@®and 2009 is as follows:

Number of Weighted average
warrants exercise price
$
Outstandin¢- January 1, 200 2,547,83. 0.97
Attached to private placeme 4,001,001 1.0Z
Issued to ager 320,08 1.0z
Re-pricing - Cancellation of original warran (2,142,85) (1.02)
F-Issue of Warrant 2,142,85 0.8C
Expired (80,059) (0.47)
Exercisec (110,639 (0.4
Outstanding¢- December 31, 20C 6,678,22. 0.9t
Attached to private placemer 11,076,00 0.8C
Issued to agen 838,08 0.8(
Outstandin¢- December 31, 20C 18,592,30 0.8
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13. Income Taxes

Income taxes reported differ from the amount coragty applying the statutory rates to losses. €asaons are as follow

2009 2008

Statutory income taxe $ (692.0 $ (944.0)
Net operating losses for which no tax benefits Hzeen recorde 265.( 567.(
Excess of amortization over capital cost allowa 15.C 17.C
Non-deductible expense 213.( 185.(
Undeducted research and development expe 297.( 441.(
Tax deductible portion of transaction cc (36.0 (37.0
Investment tax cred (62.0 (181.0
Unrealized foreign exchange g: - (48.0
Amortization of convertible debt discou (130.9) (151.%)
$ (130.9 $ (151.9)

The major components of the deferred tax assessifid by the source of temporary differencesasréollows:

2009 2008

Property and equipme $ (18.0) $ (22.0
Net operating losses carryforwe 672.( 838.(
Undeducted research and development expe 431.( 518.(
Non-refundable tax credits carryforwa 409.( 237.(
Transaction costs to be deducted in future y 36.C 73.C
1,530.( 1,654.(
Valuation allowanct (1,530.0 (1,654.0
$ - 3 =

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2008 wa5#1thousand. The net change in the valuatiomalh@e during the period enc
December 31, 2009, was a decrease of $124 thousaasisessing the realizability of deferred tavetsssnanagement considers whe
it is more likely than not that some portion or afl the deferred income tax assets will not beizedl The ultimate realization
deferred income tax assets is dependent upon thergten of future taxable income during the pesiad which those tempore
differences become deductible. Management consttlerscheduled reversal of deferred income taililigls, projected future taxak
income, and tax planning strategies in making dsisessment. Based on consideration of these itear®agement has determined
enough uncertainty exists relative to the realaratif the deferred income tax asset balances tcamathe application of a full valuati
allowance as of December 31, 2009.
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13.

Income Taxes (Con’d)

There were Canadian and provincial net operatisgds of approximately $3,505 thousand (2- $2,585.0 thousand) and $3,:
thousand (2008 -25702 thousand) respectively, that may be applgainst earnings of future years. Utilization of thet operatin
lossesis subject to significant limitations imposed by tbhange in control provisions. A portion of the aperating losses may exf.
before they can be utilize

As at December 31, 2009, the Company hac-refundable tax credits of $430 thousand (2-$237 thousand) of which 24 thousan
expiring in 2017, 213 thousand is expiring in 2@ 193,000 is expiring in 2019 and undeductedarebeand development exper
of $2,235 thousand (20(- $1,548 thousand) with no expiration de

The deferred tax benefit of these items was naigeized in the account

Deferred Income Taxes

The balance of deferred income taxes liability régmbin the previous year represented the tax effethe convertible debt arising fre
the difference between the convertible debiasis for accounting purposes and that for inctamepurposes and it was charge
additional pai-in capital. As the convertible debt was repaid nlgithis year, the deferred tax liability was reweek:

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company does not expect its unrecognized taaflie to change significantly over the next twefwenths.

Classification of Interest and Penalties

Additionally, FIN 48 requires the Company to accinterest and related penalties, if applicableathiax positions for which reser
have been established consistent with jurisdictitmalaws.

The interest and penalties as of December 31, aA@9or the years ended December 31, 2009 and\@663$Nil.
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13. Income Taxes (Con'd)
Tax Years and Examination

The Company files tax returns in each jurisdictiorwhich it is registered to do business. For gacisdiction a statute of limitatiol
period exists. After a statute of limitations periexpires, the respective tax authorities may mgéo assess additional income tax
the expired period. Similarly, the Company is nader eligible to file claims for refund for any t#éixat it may have overpaid. T
following table summarizes the Compasynajor tax jurisdictions and the tax years thahaim subject to examination by th
jurisdictions as of December 31, 20!

Tax Jurisdictions Tax Years
Federa- Canadc 2005 and onwar
Provincial- Quebec 2005 and onwar

14. Statement of Cash Flows Information

In US$ thousands 2009 2008

Accounts receivabl $ (301.)) $ 110.¢
Prepaid expense (3.2 (21.5)
Investment tax credits receival (242.¢) (15.1)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 178.7 264.2
Changes in nc-cash operating elements of working cag $ (368.2) $ (338.0

Additional Cash Flow Information:

Interest paic $ 69.1 $ 189.¢

15. Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Company incurred expensegpfaximately $17.8 thousand (20- $18.9 thousand) for laboratory equiprr
leased from a shareholder, who is also an offiéehe Company, and $4.9 thousand (200&%:6%housand) for interest on the |
payable, shareholde

Included in management salaries are $20.3 thou008 - $0.2 thousand) for options granted to the ChiehRaial Officer and $0
thousand (2008 - $Nil) for options granted to tHee€ Executive Officer under the 2006 Stock OptRlan and $29.3 thousand (2008 -
$51.7 thousand) for options granted to -employee directors in November of 20

Included in general and administrative expenseddaeetor fees of $28.1 thousand (2-$Nil) for attendance to board meetings
audit committee meeting
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15.

16.

17.

Related Party Transactions (Con’'d)

Included in accounts payable and accrued liaksliteapproximately $12.1 thousand (2(- $13.4 thousand) payable to shareholc
who are also officers of the Company and a castinet amounting to $Nil (20C- $17.9 thousand) payable to a direc

The above related party transactions have beenureghst the exchange amount which is the amouttieotonsideration establist
and agreed to by the related part

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Shar

Basic and diluted loss per common share is caledlabsed on the weighted average number of shatssueding during the peric
The warrants, shatgased compensation and convertible notes have degunded from the calculation of diluted loss pearg sinc
they are an-dilutive.

Subsequent Event:

On January 22, 2010, the Company granted 50,008 sfations to SectorSpeak Inc. as compensatiomf@stor relation services. T
stock options are exercisable into common sharas akercise price of CAD$0.50 per share optionexpire on January 22, 2013. "
stock options vest 50% on the first, and 50% orstfwnd, anniversary of the agreem

On March 4, 2010 the Company, together with Cartn@karapeutics Inc. announced that they have ehtierte a Letter of Inte
(“LOI") under which IntelGenx would acquire a fifty percemtnership stake from Cannasat and an exclusivédwite license t
develop and commercialize Relivar, a novel formatatof dronabinol, utilizing IntelGensg’ proprietary mucoadhesive AdVe
technology, for the treatment of various diseasekiding neuropathic pain. The LOI details the teumder which the two parties v
negotiate an exclusive worldwide license that sth@akult in IntelGenx assuming sole product develept and corresponding fund
as well as commercialization rights for Relivar.eThOI also lays out the terms for shared milestomed royalties generated
sublicensing of Relivar to a potential pharmaceltioarketing partner in the future. Upon completingefinitive license agreeme
IntelGenx would forgive approximately CAD$231,000debt owed by Cannasat. A definitive license agrest would be subject
board approval of each compa

F-31







Exhibit 23.1

RSM Richter Chamberland S.E.N.C.R.L./LLP
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Reportfmrm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsinot contain any untrue statement of a matxdalor omit to state a material fact neces
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madepisigading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldidh this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the small business issuarf,aand for, the periods presented in
report;

4. The small business issaesther certifying officer(s) and | are responsifle establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstam(
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(¢e)) for the small business issudrave:

(a) Designed such disclestontrols and procedures, or caused such diselasuntrols and procedures to be designed und
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the small business issuer, includingdasolidated subsidiaries, is made known !
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such intercattrol over financial reporting, or caused sudirimal control over financial reporting to be desic
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statem
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectigses of the small business issaatisclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctsontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on ¢
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this reppany change in the small business issugternal control over financial reporting thatooed durin
the small business issuer’'s most recent fiscaltquéthe small business issuefourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the small business issuer’s intéomentrol over financial reporting; and

5. The small business issaether certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobove
financial reporting, to the small business issuatditors and the audit committee of the small mess issues’ board of directors (or perst
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficieies and material weaknesses in the design orbperof internal control over financial report
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect$h&all business issusrability to record, process, summarize and refiahcial information
and

(b) Any fraud, whether astrmaterial, that involves management or other eygs#s who have a significant role in the s
business issuer’s internal control over finanaggarting.

March 29, 2010 By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
The undersigned hereby certifies that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Reportfmrm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsinot contain any untrue statement of a matxdalor omit to state a material fact neces
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madepisigading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldidh this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the small business issuarf,aand for, the periods presented in
report;

4. The small business issaesther certifying officer(s) and | are responsifle establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstam(
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(¢e)) for the small business issudrave:

(a) Designed such disclestontrols and procedures, or caused such diselasuntrols and procedures to be designed und
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the small business issuer, includingdasolidated subsidiaries, is made known !
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such intercattrol over financial reporting, or caused sudirimal control over financial reporting to be desic
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statem
for external purposes in accordance with geneealepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectigses of the small business issaatisclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctsontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on ¢
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this reppany change in the small business issugternal control over financial reporting thatooed durin
the small business issuer’'s most recent fiscaltquéthe small business issuefourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the small business issuer’s intéomentrol over financial reporting; and

5. The small business issaether certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobove
financial reporting, to the small business issuatditors and the audit committee of the small mess issues’ board of directors (or perst
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficieies and material weaknesses in the design orbperof internal control over financial report
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect$h&all business issusrability to record, process, summarize and refiahcial information
and

(b) Any fraud, whether astrmaterial, that involves management or other eygs#s who have a significant role in the s
business issuer’s internal control over finanaggarting.

March 29, 2010 By: /s/Paul Simmon
Paul Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Accounting Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual ReportimelGenx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) onrRdrOK for the year ended December
2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the “Report))Horst Zerbe, Principal Executive Officer of
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 80fhe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thequirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S¢iegrand Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Begdairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and result of operations of
Company.

A signed original of this written statent required by Section 906 has been provided éoGbmpany and will be retained by
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&uammission or its staff upon request.

March 29, 201( By: /s/Horst G. Zerbe
Horst G. Zerbe
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual ReportimelGenx Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) onrRdrOK for the year ended December
2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Ciasion on the date hereof (the “Report))Paul Simmons, Principal Accounting Officel
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. secdiod of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with thequirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S¢iegrand Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Begairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and result of operations of
Company.

A signed original of this written statent required by Section 906 has been provided éoGbmpany and will be retained by
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&uammission or its staff upon request.

March 29, 201( By: /s/Paul Simmon:
Paul Simmon:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Accounting Officer




